



Health Information Technology in Massachusetts: A Public/Private Partnership?

What Should the State's Role be in Facilitating Health IT Adoption?

Paper prepared by: Susan Feinman Houghton, M.A. and Michael T. Doonan, Ph.D.

Wednesday, December 5, 2007 8:30 am – 9:00 am Breakfast 9:00 am – 12:30 am Presentation and Discussion 12:30 pm Box Lunch "To Go"

Omni Parker House Hotel Boston, MA

This forum is a collaboration of the Massachusetts Health Policy Forum and the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium.

Copyright©2007. The Massachusetts Health Policy Forum. All rights reserved.

NO. 34

The Massachusetts Health Policy Forum is supported by grants from Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Partners HealthCare, Tufts Health Plan, Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare Foundation and the Schneider Institutes for Health Policy.

In addition to our regular funders, this forum was also supported by:

eClinicalWorks McRelayHealth Microsoft Wellogic

Table of Contents

Executive Summary: The Story of Health Information Technology in Massachusetts	1
Introduction	4
The Goals and Promise of Health IT: A Health System Transformation?	7
The Massachusetts Health IT Landscape	10
Massachusetts' Virtual RHIO	11
Massachusetts Health Data Consortium (MHDC)	11
New England Healthcare Electronic Data Interchange Network (NEHEN)	12
MA-SHARE	12
Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative	13
New England Healthcare Institute (NEHI)	14
Massachusetts Technology Collaborative	14
Masspro	15
E-Prescribing	15
Health Care Quality and Cost Council	16
Health Care Institutions	16
A Tradeoff Worth Making? Challenges to HIT Adoption	17
The Federal Role in Health IT Adoption	20
The State of the States: State-level HIT Initiatives and Policy Environment	23
The Massachusetts Health IT Policy Environment	27
Policy Issues	28
Conclusion	32
Appendix	33
California	33
Delaware	33
Indiana	34
Pennsylvania	35
Tennessee	36
A Three-State National HIE Prototype	37
References	38

Executive Summary: The Story of Health Information Technology in Massachusetts

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts is an epicenter of state-of-the-art health care, information technology, engineering, and research and development expertise. Groundbreaking innovation in health information technology (HIT) and health information exchange (HIE) is taking place in hospitals, health care systems, physician offices and in health plans throughout the state, for which Massachusetts is widely recognized as a leader among states. The Commonwealth is distinguished as the home of the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative, a multi-stakeholder coalition working to demonstrate the feasibility of interconnected HIT through three community pilot projects, funded by a \$50 million commitment from Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts. Still, we are not close to reaching the potential of health information technology to improve health outcomes and the efficiency of the health care system. Continued success will require greater integration of systems and coordination among coalitions, privacy protections and an increased investment from the public and private sectors.

Collaboration has been the hallmark of the HIT and health information exchange landscape in the Commonwealth, beginning with the establishment of the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium (MHDC) in 1978. Today, several multistakeholder organizations in Massachusetts, including the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative, the MHDC and others, and executive agencies of the Commonwealth, have been working on roadmaps and implementation of electronic health record systems and health information sharing among organizations. State agencies, health plans, provider institutions, physician groups and

consumer advocacy groups have joined coalitions and led efforts that have established Massachusetts' leadership position in HIT and HIE adoption.

While Massachusetts is ahead of many states in the regional sharing of health information, and our major health care institutions are among the most technologically advanced in the U.S. and have higher than average adoption rates of electronic health records, our statewide adoption rate is still low. Estimates of HIT adoption are 19 percent among hospitals,⁴ 45 percent of physicians and 23 percent of physician practices,⁵ and 44 percent among Community Health Centers.⁴

An investment in health information technology could pay substantial dividends. HIT can improve safety, effectiveness, timeliness, and equity of care, and can improve efficiency,⁶ resulting in billions of dollars in annual savings nationally.⁷ HIT can enhance safety by helping to prevent medical errors and adverse events,^{8,9} improving adherence to evidence-based practice.^{7, 10} and by providing timely information to improve monitoring of patients for disease.^{7, 10} Electronic health record systems can save costs through improved efficiency by replacing paper files, resulting in elimination of lost or incorrect information and repeated tests.^{7, 10}

Because there are significant costs to providers to invest in and implement HIT, in capital, implementation, training, and productivity costs, the cost benefits of HIT may more readily accrue to payers¹¹ as efficiency gains may translate into bottom line savings for purchasers rather than providers of care. Some have found a compelling business case for national implementation of electronic medical records that can be accessed securely by authorized providers anywhere in the health care system.¹² Shared medical records between freestanding and hospitalbased outpatient clinics and external laboratories could result in an annual savings of \$31.8 billion if implemented nation-wide.¹² It is estimated that as much as 90 percent of the economic benefits would go to insurers and purchasers of care.¹³ Much of this savings is realizable by state governments.¹²

There is justification for a strong public role in the widespread adoption of electronic medical records and health information exchange. Advancements could directly improve the quality of care and reduce public expenditures for MassHealth recipients by reducing medical errors and increasing administrative and clinical efficiency, and through improved coordination of care for Medicaid enrollees.¹⁴ System-wide gains in quality and cost would yield major public welfare benefits. These benefits, however, depend on systems being able to talk to each other and an infrastructure that can only be built through coordination and investment by the public sector, in addition to private sector resources. In the absence of a strong federal role in promoting HIT, the state can fill the gap that the market is unlikely to completely fill because the cost of HIT investment is concentrated while the benefits are dispersed.

Realizing the potential benefits of health information technology will require increasing public funding, attention to privacy protections and standards to assure patient confidentiality and a comprehensive strategy to integrate existing but disparate advancements.

First, statewide adoption of interconnected HIT will require significant public and private investment. An early estimate of the cost of HIT implementation in Massachusetts to achieve 100 percent adoption is \$802 million for electronic

health records, \$304 million for Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE) and \$220 million for interoperability for the first year.¹⁵ The Commonwealth's premier interconnected electronic health record initiative, the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative, was funded through an initial \$50 million private sector contribution, sustaining the project through July 2008. This investment is at risk without a source of sustaining funds. The Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative's refined estimate of modified statewide adoption of a version of its pilot project is \$500 million¹⁶

Second, policy is needed to resolve the issue of patient consent to share medication and treatment information while providing consumers with stringent privacy and security protections.^{17, 18} Health data sharing in the Commonwealth has been occurring since 1978, and these data could be put to increased use for public health planning purposes. Health care disparities can be exacerbated by disparities in HIT adoption among providers, and members of vulnerable populations may not reap the benefits of interconnected health information exchange.

Third, paradoxically, although Massachusetts is distinguished by the number and breadth of its multistakeholder coalitions focused on health information exchange, much activity across Massachusetts is still occurring in silos.¹⁸ This fragmentation and resulting lack of coordination among projects has the potential to slow our progress. Public/private coalitions are key to continued success. Several existing multistakeholder coalitions in Massachusetts offer a potential coordination point for statewide public/private interconnected HIT governance, and could form the launch platform for the public/private

leadership body that is essential for future statewide progress.

On December 5, 2007 the Massachusetts Health Policy Forum and the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium will convene health leaders in the Commonwealth for a forum entitled, Health Information Technology in Massachusetts: A Public/Private Partnership? The overarching policy question to be addressed is: Will Massachusetts capitalize upon its collaborative history, its unique confluence of resources and talent, and its current investment in HIT, and form a public/private partnership to define and fund the next steps toward statewide adoption and national leadership in HIT?

This issue brief describes the HIT landscape of the Commonwealth and identifies the key characteristics that position Massachusetts as a leader in HIT and health information exchange. We present the progress of the Commonwealth along the HIT adoption curve, discuss enablers and barriers, and how we compare to other states.

Finally, we consider the potential for enhanced state leadership and the establishment of a state-led public/private partnership to address the policy issues required to propel us forward to create a Massachusetts HIT superhighway and maintain our leadership in HIT and health information exchange among states.

Introduction

There is growing recognition within the private and public sectors that strengthening the interconnected HIT infrastructure is needed to address concerns about health care safety and quality, costs and information security.^{1,6} The Institute of Medicine points to the critical role of HIT in improving health system quality, and recommends investment in HIT systems and connectivity as a necessary foundation to ensure that care is safe, effective, patientcentered, timely, efficient and equitable, leading to improved safety, quality and efficiency of the health care system.^{6, 19} Of the structural components of the health care system, information technology is the one most likely to improve the process of health care delivery.²⁰

In its idealized form, HIT is a range of

integrated technologies by which health information may be created, stored, transmitted and used by stakeholders of the health care system.²¹ HIT encompasses tools for clinicians and patients that automate and communicate information about the care that is delivered to patients. Although containing a myriad of capabilities within these broad categories, Blumenthal and Glaser suggest a three-tier, tools-based framework that is helpful for thinking about this range of interconnected technology,²¹ and that we will adopt for the purposes of policy discussion in the context of this policy forum and Issue Brief.

Three uses of HIT form the tiers of this framework: the electronic health record (EHR), health information exchange (HIE) and the personal health record (PHR).²¹ The relationship between EHR, HIE and PHR is portrayed in Figure 1.



Figure 1

Electronic Health Records (EHRs) provide the ability to collect, store and share patient data, and consist of four core functionalities according to the Institute of Medicine (IOM): health information and data, results management, computerized provider order entry and support (CPOE), and clinical decision support.²² Health Information Exchange (HIE) provides the

ability to move and share clinical information between health information systems and organizations, to achieve interoperability of stand-alone EHRs. The goal of strategic interoperability through an HIE is an integrated continuum of care for the patient, regardless of site or time of care delivery, or who provides or pays for the care.²³ Personal health records (PHRs), or patient portals, are relatively new systems that give consumers the ability to store and report their personal health information and, if interconnected to a provider-based EHR system, may provide patients the ability to access their electronic health record (EHR).²¹

Electronic Health Record (EHR): In 2003 the Institute of Medicine developed standards for the functionality of an EHR system, to include longitudinal collection of electronic health information (electronic medical record); access to person- and population-level health information by authorized users; decision support to enhance quality, safety and efficiency; and information to support process improvement.¹ EHR systems often include Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE) and patient self-management support capabilities.² E-prescribing is a tool that is often an evolutionary step in the full rollout of EHRs, offering integrated functions spanning three or more health system entities: Physicians can enter prescriptions electronically with the aid of decision support for drug-drug and drug-allergy interactions; then eligibility can be checked for benefit coverage and formulary compliance; medication history can be checked and tracked and prescriptions can be routed electronically to a retail or mail order pharmacy for fulfillment.³

Among these types of HIT, EHR and HIE are most mature in their development and are the focus of the health policy forum, "Health Information Technology in Massachusetts: A Public/Private Partnership?" This brief will also discuss the promise of PHR as the third layer of HIT capability, describing the implementation status of these tools, and the potential for gains they offer.^a

Despite potential cost savings and quality improvements, the adoption of HIT has been slow. Estimates of adoption rates vary because of inconsistent definitions and measurement of HIT functionality and stages of implementation, and selection bias from self-selection of survey respondents that are more involved in IT implementation.^{2, 25} The U.S. is sixth out of seven industrialized countries in the use by primary care physicians of fully implemented HIT.²⁶ In the US, 19 percent of primary care physicians report use of advanced HIT, while New Zealand, the United Kingdom and Australia all report adoption rates greater than 70 percent, the Netherlands reports 59 percent, Germany reports 32 percent, and eight percent of primary care physicians in Canada report use of advanced HIT.²⁶

^a Telemedicine, in which clinical services are delivered by means of information and networking technologies, is not strictly a type of information technology but a clinical technology to deliver care, and may be deployed by means of HIT infrastructure.^{24.} Telemedicine will not be discussed in this issue brief.

Personal Health Records (PHR) have significant promise and could be one of the most important levers for improving quality and safety.⁸ PHRs allow people to electronically collect, view, manage or share copies of their health information privately and securely, putting health information under the control of the consumer.²⁷ Nearly 200 PHR products are now available, they are evolving quickly, and there is as yet no universal definition.^{27, 28} There are two forms of PHR. "Tethered" models are integrated with a provider, health plan or employer EHR or other information system.²⁷ Stand-alone PHRs are owned by the individual, are portable and may be shared with compatible systems that belong to providers, employers or insurers.²⁷ The national Framework for Strategic Action to deliver consumercentric information-rich health care endorses the adoption of personal health records to personalize care and enhance informed consumer choice.²⁹ PHRs may enhance quality and help people to take better care of their health, and could shift the balance of power between clinicians and patients.²⁷ A survey found that 60 percent of Americans are in favor a secure online personal health record to allow them to check and refill their prescriptions, get test results over the internet, check for mistakes in their medical record, and conduct secure and private email communication with their doctors.³⁰ PHRs present new challenges of privacy, security, and questions about data integrity, ownership of the data, quality and costs are being studied in Massachusetts under grants from the Markle Foundation and AHRO.⁸ ¹¹ Microsoft's October 2007 launch of HealthVault³¹ has attracted increased attention to the PHR evolution, offering an online health "vault" or data repository of electronic health information on the internet.³¹ Several dozen manufacturers, hospitals and charities have signed up and are expected to announce products and services using HealthVault soon.^{6, 19, 32} It remains to be seen whether consumers and health industry firms will trust Microsoft's claim of hacker-proof health record storage.³²

Estimates are that nationally only about 20 to 25 percent of hospitals and 15 to 20 percent of physicians' offices have implemented HIT.⁷ In one study, 28 percent of primary care doctors^b in the United States reported use of electronic medical records.²⁶ In Massachusetts, estimates of HIT adoption are 19 percent for hospitals, 45 percent of physicians and 23 percent of physician practices,⁵ and 44 percent among Community Health Centers.⁴ Studies show that larger, urban physician practices are more likely to adopt EHRs, as are "closed" systems such

as those that integrate financing and delivery like the Veteran's Health Administration (VHA) or staff-model HMOs such as Kaiser Permanente.² Leaders in EHR implementation are integrated systems such as Intermountain Health, Geisinger Health System, Mayo Clinic, Kaiser Permanente, the VHA,²⁵ and, in Massachusetts, Partners HealthCare System and CareGroup HealthCare System.

Some projections of the potential efficiency gains from the adoption of HIT may be very optimistic, and merit a cautious eye toward offsetting capital, maintenance and productivity costs: According to a RAND projection, widespread adoption of HIT by hospitals and physicians could result in savings of more than \$77 billion per year from cost reductions in inpatient and outpatient care.⁷ These savings are projected to

^b Of primary care physicians, 12% share records electronically with clinicians outside their practice, 10% provide patients with access to EHRs, 22% routinely use electronic ordering of tests, 20% use e-prescribing, 48% have electronic access to patients' test results, 28% use computerized decision support to alert on possible drug dose/interaction problems, and 32% routinely use electronic reminders sent to patients.^{26.}

derive from increased safety, better scheduling and coordination, reduced nurses' administrative time, and more efficient drug utilization.⁷ Health benefits are proposed to stem from using HIT to identify patient risk factors, leading to enhanced disease prevention and chronic disease management, and deaths avoided.⁷

Health Information Exchange (HIE) is the communication of HIT that occurs among patients and providers within a health care organization or health system; across health care organizations and systems within a community; and across the country.³³ HIE is a broad term that encompasses a variety of models currently emerging.³⁴ HIE provides the infrastructure that connects EHRs and clinical data residing in inpatient, outpatient, longterm care and home health settings, pharmacies and health plans. Regional and national health information exchange would allow patients' medical records to follow them when they travel or relocate, and would be available for public health, quality measurement and research.³³ HIE infrastructure is built upon a network of networks. Without an interoperable HIE infrastructure, there is the risk that local HIT networks will remain isolated and their full investment value never recovered. Some networks are regional, developed as Regional Health Information Networks (RHIOs) which are geographically defined, while others are built by groups that share information needs.³³ More than 100 communities across the country are developing HIEs - Santa Barbara, California, the Indianapolis region and the greater Boston area are prominent examples.³³ Community-level HIEs have been driven by local leaders and have relied on home-grown technical solutions, and there are no clear roadmaps for statewide expansion beyond these initial projects.³³

Adoption of HIT means different things to various health system stakeholders. To physicians and other clinicians, implementation of HIT may mean improved decision support, significant capital investment, the possibility of new ways of delivering care and managing the patient encounter, and the disruption of office workflow during the implementation and training period. To payers, HIT may bring processing efficiency, improved care management strategies, and opportunities for regional and statewide collaboration to manage costs and quality. To patients and consumers, HIT makes possible a new level and range of plan and provider quality and price information to support purchasing decisions, but raises concerns about privacy and security. To many, HIT may bring a vision of implementation and financing barriers that must be overcome, through which improvements in quality

and safety may, potentially, be purchased. Many stakeholders may be most concerned with regulatory and privacy issues surrounding HIT, such as how to safeguard the security of health information and ensure compatibility among disparate systems and data sources. These varying perspectives on the meaning of HIT suggest the many potential benefits, and the barriers that still remain, on the road to health system-wide HIT diffusion.

The Goals and Promise of Health IT: A Health System Transformation?

The integration of HIT and HIE is regarded as a force able to drive health system transformation, essential but not sufficient to achieve system-wide change.³⁵ Technology is not a panacea for the health care system's problems, it is a means toward the end of improved patient outcomes and system efficiency. The goal of HIT is to offer a tool to enable health system redesign and change, to improve quality of care,¹¹ and to optimize quality of life for all within the constraints of the resources available in the system.³⁵

The multiple potential benefits of integrated, interoperable HIT, HIE and EHR systems span the care delivery process. Providers would have ready electronic access to patient care plan information, history, diagnostic and consult results, and prescribed medications, at any hour and from any internet-enabled location. Accurate case information can follow the patient from setting to setting. Decision support capabilities provide data on clinical trials,

evidence-based care and best practice guidelines to keep physicians up to date on medical knowledge, and may increase quality.² HIT is critical to quality measurement and improving systems of care: quality indicators can be tracked so that data can be used by providers, health systems, payers and researchers; safety is enhanced by preventing errors and adverse events;^{8,9} clinicians' adherence to guidelines and protocols is improved;^{7, 10} and longitudinal monitoring of patients for disease is improved.^{7, 10} These potential benefits will only accrue if EHR systems are integrated with HIE, and are interoperable with other HIT systems.

Regional Health Information Organizations (RHIOs) were the concept of David Brailer, MD, former National Health Information Technology Coordinator.³⁶ RHIOs are organizations that facilitate clinical data exchange by means of HIE.³⁷ The task of the RHIO is to provide a legal and technical infrastructure for health information sharing, serving requests for patient data from any inpatient or outpatient facility within its region.³⁸ There are many forms of RHIOs in the US that provide data sharing among hospitals and other providers and institutions, all implemented differently.³⁸ RHIOs proliferated beginning with the 2004 federal initiative to develop nationwide interopability.³⁴ The ONC proposal positions RHIOs as the building blocks of the proposed National Health Information Network (NHIN),³⁶ a future national network of interconnected regional networks.

Electronic health record systems are proposed to save costs through improved efficiency by replacing paper files, resulting in elimination of lost or incorrect information; eliminate repeated tests^{7, 10} by making results readily accessible from any location. It is estimated that \$4.5 billion per year is spent on inappropriate or unnecessary care, often because of duplication due to lack of patient information.³⁷ A RAND study found that HIT would save an estimated \$77 billion each year on increased efficiencies alone.⁷ In 2005, HIT was proposed by the Governors of Massachusetts, Indiana, Missouri, Michigan and Tennessee as a way to control states' expanding Medicaid budgets.¹²

HIT can support the IOM's objective of delivering patient-centered care. ^{6 39 34} HIT, with the addition of patient portals in the form of personal health records, supports patient self-management of chronic conditions, enabling a more actively participating consumer. ^{11, 35} Electronic health records that include CPOE and decision support have been shown to improve care transitions and coordination within provider offices, hospitals and health systems.^{2, 40}

Electronic sharing of information through HIT can support organizational culture transformation by enabling communities of practice, online education programs, quality reporting and outcomes transparency.³⁵ Information technology has been credited with enabling a culture of safety within health care organizations.⁹ An example of the gains that are possible with the implementation of HIT is offered by the Veterans Health System, which has undergone a transformational improvement in quality over the last 10 years.⁴¹⁻⁴³ Fully implemented EHR systems can enhance a health system's attractiveness as an employer and service provider. Kaiser, VHA and federally funded community health centers that have mature EHR implementations report that their HIT systems provide clear

competitive advantage in recruiting physicians and attracting consumers.¹¹

Widespread adoption of HIT networks may provide a cumulative advantage: The emerging National Health Information Network (NHIN) can result in increased gains from previous technology investments such as EHRs.³⁵ The burden of reporting for regulatory compliance may be reduced through automated data extraction and report generation.³⁵ Financial incentives and reimbursement models may be more effectively monitored through the use of information technology.³⁵

Dr. George Papanicolaou of Rowley, Massachusetts, a participant in the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative demonstration project (see below) finds that the efficiency of his practice is improved and he may be able to make quicker diagnoses with the aid of EHRs and internet-based decision support.⁴⁴ With an EHR, he can create registries, follow up on recalls and improve chronic disease management.⁴⁴ Dr. Papanicolaou finds he can maintain better documentation of office visits, which leads to improve coding, more accurate billing, and potentially to increased revenue.⁴⁴

Seeking cost-benefit value in EHR adoption may be a red herring, taking us off track from the true value of implementation. There are significant costs to investing in and implementing HIT, in capital, training, and productivity costs, leading some to say there is no obvious business case for HIT investment by health care providers.⁴¹ Cost savings from EHR tend to accrue more to payers rather than providers.¹¹ Eliminating duplicative tests may actually cost individual or groups of providers, but yield improvements in efficiency and health at reduced costs overall.¹¹ Properly used, integrating HIT into daily practice can help providers re-design practice flow⁴⁵ and gain administrative efficiencies that promote quality, safety and savings. Therefore, at the provider level, analysis of the business case for HIT must balance

overall net returns in cost savings, efficiency gains, effects on the revenue cycle, long-term productivity and practice flow gains, and health outcome and patient satisfaction improvements. System redesign is required for the transformation that is often cited as a goal of HIT. Alternatively, if HIT is used to automate flawed clinical and business processes, breakthroughs in quality and cost improvement will not be realized.⁴¹

Some have found a compelling business case for national implementation of interoperable, standardized HIE.¹² A study of the value of national implementation of fully standardized information exchange between providers and laboratories, radiology centers, pharmacies, payers and public health departments projected significant annual cost savings, and important quality and safety improvements.¹² Fully interoperable HIE between freestanding and hospital-based outpatient clinics and external laboratories would result in reduction of redundant tests, and reduce delays and costs associated with ordering and reporting of results, savings projected to result in an annual savings of \$31.8 billion if implemented nation-wide.¹²

For HIT to achieve its promise of system transformation, it must be combined with properly aligned incentives that reward patient outcomes and improvements in efficiency.³⁵ Some payers have begun to incentivize providers to adopt these technologies.³

With an aging population that is expected to be heavier utilizers of health services than previous generations, it makes sense to adopt and integrate HIT systems as soon as possible.³⁵

The Massachusetts Health IT Landscape

Massachusetts has been called a "super cluster" of life sciences, with its extraordinary landscape of the world's leading health care delivery, biomedical research, education, medical device, biotechnology, pharmaceutical and information technology organizations and institutions.⁴⁶ The Commonwealth hosts HIT activities that range from initial EHR adoption projects at the provider level, mature institution-level EHR implementations, community-level CPOE and e-prescription networks, and regional HIE initiatives. Compared to other states, Massachusetts was an early adopter of community-wide HIT projects, has a history of data-sharing organizations and initiatives, and has more experience with RHIO activities than many other states.³⁷ Massachusetts is one of 37 states that have a mandate to collect health care systems data.⁴⁷ While the Commonwealth began sharing health data among hospitals in the

late 1970s, other states did not begin similar data sharing until the mid-1980s.⁴⁷ In 2006, the Commonwealth enacted state health reform legislation that includes a newly organized Health Care Quality and Cost Council with the charter to collect claims data from payers and report comparative quality data via a consumer health information website. ^{48, 49} Massachusetts' model of collaboration on HIT and HIE projects may offer an example to other states.³⁷

Although Massachusetts is located in a region that is at the forefront of EHR implementation and use, ⁴⁴ adoption rates are still low, ranging from four percent to 44 percent among different provider groups, according to a 2005 study.⁴ Adoption estimates vary because of lack of consistency among surveys in the definition of what constitutes EHR adoption and because of selection bias among survey respondents. Of the state's 115 acute care facilities and hospitals^c, 19 percent are estimated to use EHR, 15 percent use e-prescribing, and an estimated six to seven percent have adopted CPOE.⁴ Forty-four percent of Community Health Centers have implemented EHRs.⁴

A 2005 study of nearly 2000 physicians in the Commonwealth found that while 45 percent of physicians used EHRs, only 23 percent of practices had adopted these systems.⁵ Almost half of the state's EHR users are concentrated in the four largest groups (Partners, Boston Medical Center, CareGroup and Harvard Vanguard).⁵ Hospital-based and teaching practices are more likely to have an EHR than other groups, and only 14 percent of solo practices have adopted EHRs.⁵

^c Includes all facilities in Massachusetts that provide some level of acute care, including rehabilitation hospitals and other related facilities.

The Massachusetts Provider Landscape

In 2006 there were 32,785 physicians in Massachusetts,⁵⁰ of whom 48 percent were selfemployed.³ Of self-employed physicians, 51 percent are in solo practices, 35 percent are in small practices of two to eight physicians, and 14 percent practice in larger groups of more than eight.³ There are 114 hospitals, of which 79 are acute care and 35 are non-acute care facilities.⁵¹ There are 51 community health centers, 1,203 post acute/long term care facilities including home health agencies, 6,000 dental providers and 1,042 retail pharmacies.⁵¹

Overall adoption rates do not adequately reflect actual use of EHR functionality. In a survey of Massachusetts physicians in which 29 percent reported that their practice had adopted EHRs, more than 80 percent reported they had access to laboratory results (85 percent), and could document visits via EHRs (84 percent).⁵² However, computerized ordering of laboratory tests had been adopted by only 47 percent, and fewer still had the ability to e-prescribe (45 percent).⁵² Of all EHR functions available to physicians, they report using clinical decision support the least amount of the time.⁵²

Massachusetts' Virtual RHIO

The four major community-wide HIT organizations in the Commonwealth engaged in RHIO activities are the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium (MHDC), the New England Healthcare Electronic Data Interchange Network (NEHEN), MA-SHARE and the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative (MAeHC).³⁷ Each of these organizations play a key role in the collaboration to facilitate regional HIT through promoting EHR and HIE implementation.³ Massachusetts has organized four RHIO roles, conceptualized by Halamka, et al. as the "convener", the "transactor", the "grid" and the "last mile".³⁷ Each of the four organizations performs one of these roles to create a "virtual RHIO".³⁷ The "convenor" brings together stakeholders to contribute to and benefit from RHIO activities; the "transactor" provides

community-wide exchange of healthcare administrative data; the "grid" contributes the clinical counterpart of the "transactor" role, providing community-wide exchange of clinical data; and the "last mile" role is that required to enable connection of services to provider offices through EHR capability.³⁷

Massachusetts Health Data Consortium (MHDC)

The Massachusetts Health Data Consortium is a co-sponsor of this health policy forum, and performs the role of "convenor" in the Commonwealth's virtual RHIO organization.³⁷ MHDC was formed in 1978 by the Office of State Health Planning, as a nonprofit independent coalition of public and private health care organizations.^{37, 47} The mission of the MHDC is to collect, analyze and disseminate health care information and to promote development of a comprehensive health data system to address the health information needs of the Commonwealth for the purpose of improving health care and health.²⁷ MHDC fulfills a broad, facilitative role as the convener, educational organization and business incubator.³⁷

The creation of the MHDC marked the first time that competing hospitals would share data with a third-party for analysis and redistribution, and required the implementation of standards for data sharing.³⁷ In the mid-1990s, data sharing activities led to creation of a CIO Forum working group that meets bi-monthly to discuss the use of HIT to improve cost, quality and efficiency.³⁷ The CIO Forum also led to the development of privacy/security guidelines, standards, and HIPAA compliance collaboration, through its Privacy and Security Officers Forum and Technical Advisory Board.^{37,47} In 2006, MHDC was designated by the Commonwealth as the Massachusetts leader of the HISPC project,⁵³ a national collaborative funded by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) to address privacy and security policy issues affecting interoperable HIE.^{54,55}

To foster the development of interconnected regional HIE in Massachusetts, in 1997 MHDC convened a conference which spawned the New England Healthcare Electronic Data Interchange Network (NEHEN), another player in the Commonwealth's virtual RHIO.^{37, 56}

New England Healthcare Electronic Data Interchange Network (NEHEN)

NEHEN is the "transactor" for the Commonwealth's virtual RHIO. NEHEN was created in 1997 by provider organizations Partners Healthcare, CareGroup, and Lifespan, and two payer organizations, Tufts Health Plan and Harvard Pilgrim Health Care.^{37, 56} NEHEN is a consortium of more than 30 regional payers and providers who have designed and implemented a secure electronic data interchange of HIPAAcompliant administrative transactions for the purpose of reducing costs.⁵⁷ NEHEN members include hospitals and health systems, community health centers, and the major health payers in the Commonwealth including Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Tufts Health Plan, Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, MassHealth, Neighborhood Health Plan, and Network Health.⁵⁶ NEHEN also has

connectivity to Medicare, and national Medicare Advantage payers such as Aetna and Cigna.^{56, 57} Each provider organization connects directly to each payer in the network, to transmit all HIPAA transactions including eligibility verification, referrals, pre-certifications, claim inquiries and submission, and electronic remittance.⁵⁶

The NEHEN collaboration has established a favorable business model based on cost avoidance through reduction in administrative transaction costs, and has fostered a relationship of trust among healthcare CIOs in its member network.³⁷ Average claims cost of \$5.00 per transaction were reduced to \$.25 per transaction with the implementation of the NEHEN network.³⁷

MA-SHARE

MA-SHARE, operated by the MHDC,⁵⁸ is the "grid" supporting the Commonwealth's virtual RHIO capabilities.³⁷ The MHDC launched MA-SHARE in 2003 as a regional collaborative, and since then has raised \$1.1 million for its projects, with financial support from Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Partners Healthcare System, Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, Tufts Health Plan, Fallon Health Plan, Neighborhood Health Plan and the Massachusetts Medical Society.⁵⁸ MA-SHARE's mission is to promote interorganizational HIT, standards and administrative simplification, to enable efficient, cost-effective and safe health information transfer.⁵⁸ Its RHIO operating goal is to operate a clinical "grid" providing services to support communities in clinical data exchange, the counterpart to NEHEN's support for administrative data exchange.³⁷ MA-SHARE initiatives have included working to develop a record locator service for identifying patient records and a clinical data exchange

project to exchange prescription and laboratory information in partnership with the Connecting for Health Initiative.³⁷

In 2004, MA-SHARE was successful in implementing one of the nation's first live clinical data initiatives, MedsInfo-ED to deliver prescription medication history to three pilot hospital emergency departments.⁵⁹ Currently, MA-SHARE is focusing on two projects: the implementation of a pilot using the continuity of care document to share discharge summaries and emergency department summaries among caregivers; and the Rx-Gateway and Education projects. Rx Gateway is a community utility that acts as traffic manager to electronically connect prescribers to patient information, retail pharmacies, and mail order programs to order and deliver prescriptions.^{37,60} As of December 2006, more than 1.000 Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center physicians are registered for e-prescribing and more than 100 of them are using the medical center's EHR for e-prescribing.⁶¹ Approximately 10,000 electronic prescriptions have been transmitted, and several of the early adopters have proven to be high-volume eprescribers, with hundreds of electronic prescriptions created over the course of several weeks.⁶¹ The pilot is extending to Partners Healthcare/Brigham and Women's Hospital, work is in progress to integrate the Harvard Pilgrim Health Care formulary, and plans are progressing with several Massachusetts payers, hospitals, and EHR vendors to evaluate the community benefits of Rx Gateway integration.⁶¹ MA-SHARE solicits proposals from healthcare organizations interested in piloting clinical information technology projects.⁵⁸

Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative

The Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative forms the "last mile" of the

Commonwealth's virtual RHIO model, fulfilling the vision that community connectivity will be realized only when the "last mile" of the provider's office is wired.³⁷ On December 6, 2004, Governor Mitt Romney announced the launch of the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative, funded by a \$50 million commitment to the state by Bill Van Fassen, President and CEO of Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, and led by Chairman of the Board Dr. Allan Goroll, Governor of the Massachusetts Chapter of the American College of Physicians, and President and Chief Executive Officer Micky Tripathi, founding President and CEO of the Indiana Health Information Exchange.^{16, 62,} The Collaborative was conceived during a March 2004 summit of the Massachusetts chapter of the American College of Physicians (ACP) to meet its top strategic priority of quality improvement through patient safety.44 Consultants Dr. Lucian Leape and Dr. David Bates, experts in patient safety, advised the ACP that the best way to improve quality and safety was by means of an electronic health record initiative.⁴⁴

The MAeHC is a multi-stakeholder working coalition established to demonstrate the gains and feasibility of implementing community-wide HIT through EHR and HIE, with the goal of universal statewide adoption of interconnected electronic health records.44 The MAeHC is comprised of 34 member organizations representing providers. employers, advocacy, health plans, HIT and quality improvement groups, including hospital, physicians' and nurses' groups, Health Care for All, the Massachusetts Business Roundtable, Massachusetts Group Insurance Commission, The Massachusetts Health Data Consortium, Masspro, New England Healthcare Institute and others.⁶⁴

The initial \$50 million contribution is to fund the demonstration phase,¹⁶ consisting of pilot communities in Greater Brockton, Greater Newburyport and Northern Berkshire.⁶⁵ This 24 to 36 month pilot is the first demonstration project testing community-wide implementation of EHR in Massachusetts, one of the most advanced efforts in the country.⁶⁵ The goal of the pilot is to study and demonstrate the effectiveness and practicality of implementing electronic health records linked by HIE in community settings, to improve the quality, safety and cost-effectiveness of care, and to use lessons gained to engage payers, providers, patients, QIOs and employers to promote adoption statewide.^{37, 44, 65}

MAeHC invited 167 physician practices to participate in the pilot.⁴⁴ As of September 2007, 159 practices accepted the invitation, 141 have remained in the pilot, and 131 are now live on EHRs.⁴⁴ Of 561 individual physicians invited to participate, 98 percent accepted, 88 percent are still in the pilot, and 55 percent are now live on EHRs.⁴⁴

The MAeHC is constructing a program to share information, lessons learned and resources developed for the pilot projects with any community in the Commonwealth, and invites other communities seeking to implement EHRs to participate.⁶⁶ MAeHC is bringing together employer, health plan, provider and government stakeholders to build consensus about ongoing funding for the demonstration program, with the vision of universal adoption as the ultimate goal.⁴⁴ Mitch Adams projects that in 12 to 18 months, MAeHC will have data to show that EHRs are cost-saving in the pilot communities.44

New England Healthcare Institute (NEHI)

The New England Healthcare Institute (NEHI) is an independent nonprofit health policy institution, formed in 2002 by health leaders representing all sectors of the national health care community including payers, purchasers, providers, researchers, and biotechnology, pharmaceutical and medical device firms.⁶⁷ Working in partnership with the Massachusetts Technology Collaborative (MTC), NEHI conducted research and produced a report, "Advanced Technologies to Lower Health Care Costs and Improve Quality", that identified HIT applications that would most dramatically create quality and cost improvement in the Commonwealth 46

As a result of this initial research, NEHI and MTC have moved forward with two major, multi-year initiatives: the Massachusetts Hospital Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE) project and the Massachusetts Tele-Intensive Care Unit Project (Tele-ICU). The goal of the CPOE project is to achieve implementation of CPOE in 100 percent of Massachusetts hospitals by 2011.⁶⁸ There are 19 pilot site hospitals enrolled in the initiative, \$1.5 million in funding from the state legislature, MTC, and NEHI for the overall initiative, and a coordinating council of payers, hospital executives and policymakers that are all working to create an incentive system for the adoption of CPOE. NEHI and MTC also collaborate with David Bates, MD and his team from the Brigham and Women's Hospital to study rates of preventable adverse drug events and the accompanying financial burden in community hospitals in Massachusetts.

Massachusetts Technology Collaborative

Massachusetts Technology Collaborative (MTC) is a quasi-public agency that acts

as the state's development agency for renewable energy and the innovation economy, working to stimulate economic activity in communities throughout the Commwealth.⁶⁹ MTC brings together leaders from industry, academia, and government to advance technology-based solutions that lead to economic growth in Massachusetts.⁶⁹ MTC works closely with the Governor and the State Legislature to promote technology-driven innovation that fuels the state's economy,⁶⁹ and partners with NEHI to advance HIT to improve health care quality and cost.⁴⁴ MTC and NEHI have formalized an approach for identifying key technologies as those that have a high impact on quality and cost, and are under-adopted with barriers that could be eliminated.⁴⁶ MTC collaborates with NEHI on the CPOE Initiative.

Masspro

Masspro, founded more than 20 years ago by the Massachusetts Medical Society, is the federally designated healthcare Quality Improvement Organization (QIO) for Massachusetts.⁷⁰ In addition to providing quality measurement and improvement consultation to health care providers in all settings, Masspro assists physician practices throughout the Commonwealth to implement EHRs. Masspro represents Massachusetts as a pilot state in the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) Doctor's Office Quality Information Technology (DOQ-IT) initiative, and has recruited over 2,000 Massachusetts physicians in small-tomedium sized practices to adopt EHRs.⁷⁰ The OIO also works with hospitals across Massachusetts in planning for the implementation for CPOE. Masspro partners with Bridges to Excellence, a multi-state, employer, physician and researcher coalition, to incentivize physician practices to improve quality through adoption of information technology, working with more than 1,200

practices in Massachusetts.^{70, 71} Masspro is also working with the CMS to implement the Medicare Care Management Performance (MCMP) Payfor-Performance demonstration project, which rewards physician practices for EHR adoption, use and improvement impact on continuity of care, health outcomes, quality of care, patient satisfaction, physician satisfaction, and Medicare expenditures.⁷⁰

E-Prescribing

There are several e-prescribing programs in the Commonwealth. In Massachusetts, 83.3 million prescriptions are written every year, and there are 1,064 pharmacies.³ The premier e-prescribing effort in the state is the eRX Collaborative, formed in 2003 by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts and Tufts Health Plan, later joined by Neighborhood Health Plan.⁷² The Collaborative is guided by the MA eRX Forum, facilitated by the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. The eRX Collaborative had an early lead in the industry, with the highest adoption and utilization rates in the US compared to other e-prescribing initiatives. In the first six months of 2007, 2.6 million prescriptions were transmitted, a 21 percent increase from the same period in 2006. More than 50,000 prescriptions were changed as a result of drug-drug or drug-allergy alerts, approximately 8300 per month.⁷² In 2006, America's Health Insurance Plans awarded Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts their Innovation and Excellence Award for Health Information Technology, in which the success of the eRX Collaborative was a critical component. In 2006 and 2007, the project was awarded the SafeRX Award for enhancing patient safety through secure and accurate prescribing.⁷²

Health Care Quality and Cost Council

In 2006, Chapter 58, the Massachusetts health reform legislation, established the Health Care Quality and Cost Council, chaired by Dr. JudyAnn Bigby, Secretary of Health and Human Services. The Council has a mission to promote highquality, safe, effective, timely, efficient, equitable and patient-centered health care and establish quality and cost benchmarks.⁴⁸ The goal of the Council is to incorporate health data collection and internet reporting goals, lowering or containing growth in health care costs while improving the quality of care. and the Council is authorized to design and implement health care quality improvement interventions with providers.⁷³ The Council will establish and maintain a consumer health information website to compare the cost and quality of health care services to enable consumers to make informed health care choices, and has the authority to collect claims and quality data from insurers and health care providers and to assess penalties on insurers or providers do not submit data.⁴⁸ Through regulation, in September 2007 the Council established standards for the uniform transmission of claims data sets for reporting to the Council.⁷⁴ To meet its goals, one of the Council's initiatives is to establish an allpayer database of claims submitted by public and private payers throughout the Commonwealth. In October 2007, the Council contracted with the Maine Health Information Center to act as its Claims Data Manager for data reporting by health plans, with the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium and Masspro serving as subcontractors.⁴⁹ The goal of this collaboration is to build an all-payer health information database for Massachusetts.⁴⁹

Health Care Institutions

All of Massachusetts' major health care

institutions have HIT initiatives. These organizations are a key part of the solution to "complete the last mile" in community connectivity of interoperable EHRs;³⁷ it is possible to mention only a few of these initiatives here. For example, Partners HealthCare System has an award-winning EHR implementation that has roots going back more than 20 years to an in-house developed integrated computing system.⁷⁵ Partners is one of two organizations in the US awarded a five year AHRQ contract to develop methods to advance the effectiveness of clinical decision support in EHR, and has been recognized for nine years in a row as one of the 100 "Most Wired" hospitals and health systems in the country by Hospitals and Health Networks Magazine.⁷⁶ According to Tom Lee, CEO of Partners Community HealthCare, the physician network affiliated with Partners, all physicians in the Partners network must adopt or agree to adopt EHRs by January 1, 2008 or else they will be removed from the network.⁷⁷ The policy will affect about 5000 physicians in the network who will be required to implement one of two EHR systems by January 1, 2009. Partners' web-based EHR, Longitudinal Medial Record has been certified by the Certification Commission for Healthcare Information and Technology for meeting all 2006 criteria for functionality, interoperability, security reliability and professional standards.^{78,79} Today, More than 78 percent of Partners primary care physicians and 62 percent of specialists use EHRs.⁷⁹

Boston Medical Center (BMC), a not for profit, 581 bed urban academic medical center, is the largest safety net hospital in New England.⁸⁰ BMC has an extensive EHR implementation, with 8,000 users at 69 clinics, with almost 100 percent clinician participation.⁴⁴ According to Meg Aranow, Vice President and Chief Information Officer of BMC, the institution was an early adopter of EHRs despite skepticism that a safety-net provider could implement successfully. BMC successfully implemented fullyfunctioning EHR in neighborhood health centers among a financially challenged patient population, in as little as four to six weeks in some clinics.⁴⁴ BMC has extended their EHR product offerings to private physicians in the community who refer to BMC.⁴⁴

CareGroup HealthCare System, consisting of Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, community hospitals including Mount Auburn Hospital, New England Baptist Hospital, Deaconess-Glover Hospital, Deaconess-Nashoba Hospital, and 72 ambulatory care practices, is considered one of the most technologically advanced hospital systems in the U.S. and has been an early adopter of EHRs.⁸¹ In 2001, Beth Israel Deaconess deployed a CPOE system throughout all departments of the academic medical center, eliminating handwritten orders, reducing medication dosing errors by 90 percent, overall errors by at least 50 percent, eliminating redundant data entry and improving work flow.⁸² All of CareGroup's hospitals and its network of ambulatory care providers are linked via a web-based home-grown EHR system, and medical records are available to qualified referring physicians on a view-only basis.^{81, 83} As a result of the rollout to referring physicians, CareGroup will be able to offer more than 1,000 physicians in Massachusetts the choice to purchase a hospital-based EHR for a low initial investment.^{82 83} The system includes a web-based ambulatory CPOE component that is expected to handle approximately two million outpatient encounters annually.⁸³ Hospitals and practices in the CareGroup system are connected for interoperable clinical data exchange and communitywide RHIO activities.82

In central Massachusetts, Fallon Community Health Plan. a not-for-profit insurer, Fallon Clinic, a 240-physician multi-specialty group, St. Vincent's Hospital and UMass Memorial Health Care, an integrated delivery system with a tertiary-care hospital and other facilities, have partnered to implement the SAFE Health Info program, under a grant from the National Institutes of Health and AHRO.^{84, 85} The three-year \$1.4 million grant is funding the development of a community-led EHR and HIE project to exchange health information among the three organizations.⁸⁵ The project is funded in large part by Fallon Community Health Plan, and is planned to evolve into a long-term partnership to develop a RHIO called the Central Massachusetts Health Information Organization.⁸⁶

A Tradeoff Worth Making? Challenges to HIT Adoption

Despite these leading efforts, Massachusetts has yet to realize the full potential of HIT and HIE. Financial barriers to HIT implementation include lack of investment funding, and training and maintenance costs, both at start-up and ongoing. Implementation and maintenance requires a technologically skilled staff and/or vendor support to design and install EHR systems.² Ongoing costs include training of new staff, and hardware and software upgrades to maintain the system. Other ongoing costs may be associated with the use of technology: Decision support, in spite of its quality benefits, may lead to higher utilization and spending because it may create bias toward providing more care rather than less.¹¹ Nationally, it is estimated that wiring the health care system could cost as much as \$156 billion of public and private money over five years.^{41, 87} There is no national strategy to fund capital investment in HIT or provide reimbursement incentives for its use.

which creates a dependence on private sector funding that could lead to variation in capabilities and present issues in achieving interoperability. Less wellfinanced providers are at a disadvantage on the HIT adoption curve. The quantification of the benefits of HIT investment to care providers is unclear, making funding more difficult to secure. Health and care disparities may be exacerbated by disparities in HIT adoption because larger, financially stronger providers are better able to make the necessary investments.

Although financial factors are the most frequently cited obstacles to adoption of EHR by physicians, there are others.⁵ Barriers include lack of computer skills, lack of technical support, lack of uniform standards and technical limitations of systems.⁵ More than half of physicians surveyed in Massachusetts pointed to concerns about patient privacy and security that must be resolved.⁵

Loss of physician productivity during implementation and training is often pointed to as a barrier, and HIT has been found to have both positive and negative impacts on physician productivity.¹⁰ Lack of physician leadership, involvement and ownership can be a deterrent to adoption.¹¹ Physician resistance can also be a barrier in some facilities, although this seems to be less than has been generally perceived and addressable^{8, 88} as systems proliferate and demonstrate stability and value. According to VHA and Kaiser Permanente staff involved with IT implementation, physician receptivity to HIT may be related to age: younger and older physicians may be more accepting, while those in mid-career, at peak productivity, may resist the potential time drain of IT implementation and training.¹¹ These health systems reported that some physicians required six months to integrate their training and experience with HIT and appear to embrace the technology.¹¹

HIT is easier to use for specialists compared to generalists, because of the relatively smaller number of procedures performed and medical issues encountered, can more easily create a smaller number of standardized templates for care plan, office flow, decision support and documentation.⁴⁴ The Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative found that the main barriers cited by physicians to participating in the pilot project of electronic health record (EHR) implementation were the inconvenience of the conversion process and the belief that EHRs were not applicable to their particular specialty.⁴⁴ According to Meg Aranow, Vice President and Chief Information Officer of Boston Medical Center, one of the greatest implementation challenges is to strike the right balance between the standardization required by automation, and the customization required for good patient-centered care.44

Health Information Exchange (HIE) may be even more challenging to implement than EHRs, because exchange between organizations introduces additional barriers of technical compatibility among systems housed in different, and disparate, organizations, and additional concerns about data privacy and security. Barriers to RHIO formation have included concerns about privacy, security, organizational trust, patient consent, and agreement on standards adoption.³⁷ To share information accurately, safely and with trust among organizations, data formats must be understood by all networked systems, information must be kept secure from intentional or unintentional corruption, and must be kept private from unauthorized use or access. HIEs rely on standards for communication, require compatibility in the codes that are used to store data, and in the technical facilities that are used to

transmit data among settings and users. Standards must take into consideration the large degree of variation among existing HIT systems and networks, from the simplest to the most advanced.³³

The current federal and state policy environment concerning consumer privacy and information security protections is based upon a health system in which records are stored on paper. Updates are needed to accommodate the electronic transmission of health information. Protections for data security and privacy lead to significant technical and policy issues that must be addressed in promoting EHR and HIE diffusion. Beyond HIPAA requirements, there are no national or intrastate uniform agreements about security or privacy of health information across a network.³³ These issues were encountered and in part addressed by the MedsInfo-ED project, a successful proofof-concept patient safety initiative in Massachusetts that prototyped and tested a community clinical data exchange model to automate the communication of medication history to emergency department clinicians.⁸⁹ MedsInfo-ED was managed by MA-SHARE and sponsored by the Alliance for Health Care Improvement, a collaborative of six Massachusetts-based health plans including Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, Tufts Health Plan, Neighborhood Health Plan, MassHealth (Massachusetts Medicaid) and the Massachusetts Group Insurance Commission (purchaser of health insurance for Commonwealth of Massachusetts employees and retirees).⁸⁹ These plans in combination cover more than 80 percent of the population and more than 86 percent of covered lives in Massachusetts.^{89,90}

Several privacy-related barriers were identified and addressed by MedsInfo-ED. HIPAA interpretations challenged the

project's ability to test and validate the software developed; the project's legal team clarified what was allowable under HIPAA's health care operation exemption.⁹¹ Patient consent in order for providers and plans to access health information electronically is an important policy issue, as the Massachusetts Fair Information Practices Act (FIPA) state law is stricter than HIPAA in regard to consent.^{91, 92} MedsInfo-ED implemented procedures to meet the Massachusetts Attorney General's position that under FIPA, providers must obtain and document oral consent to share patient's records electronically.⁸⁹ Massachusetts has stringent regulations related to the release of data concerning certain sensitive medications and conditions, as do most states, although there is interstate variation.^{89,91} Massachusetts insurance regulations require specific advanced written consent prior to release of any HIV-related health information including treatment and medications.⁹³ Two state laws prevent Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts and commercial indemnity plans from releasing mental health treatment and medication information without prior written consent of the patient.^{94, 95} Federally funded substance abuse programs are subject to 42 CFR Section 2 which protects the confidentiality of drug and alcohol abuse patient records.⁹⁶ These protections were addressed and preserved by MedsInfo-ED through a prescription medication filter program that blocked the transmission of medications indicative of sensitive categories of treatment from view by clinicians.⁸⁹ This solution, while maintaining important consumer privacy protections, limited the usefulness of MedsInfo-ED for treatment of up to five percent of the commercial population of patients, and possibly even more of the Medicaid and Medicare population.⁸⁹ HIPAA's "minimum necessary" provision

limits display of multiple patient records to choose from in locating a patient's information; MedsInfo-ED found that this limitation might reduce the likelihood of finding a patient's medication history.⁸⁹ A significant roadblock to MedsInfo-ED's development was encountered concerning HIPAA's electronic data standards used to confirm eligibility, which raised concerns about the potential to return false positives and mis-identify the patient and present the wrong medication history.⁸⁹ MedsInfo-Ed implemented a workaround that allowed for clinicians to validate that the correct patient was located.⁸⁹

In 2006, MHDC was designated by the Commonwealth as the leader of the federally funded Massachusetts Health Information Security and Privacy Collaborative (MA-HISPC) project.⁵³ Massachusetts is one of 34 states participating in this nationwide AHRQfunded public/private collaboration to address privacy and security policy issues, regulations and business practices affecting interoperable HIE.^{54, 55} HISPC is managed by RTI in cooperation with the National Governors Association, AHRQ, and the Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT at HHS, and aims to identify variation among states in privacy and security practices and laws, to propose solutions to address challenges, and to increase expertise about health information privacy and security protection.⁵⁵ Phase I of the project resulted in the identification of four key public policy concerns: patient consent to the use of HIE networks, use and disclosure of sensitive medical information, implementation of access controls, and application of community standards.^{17, 97} Among these, MA-HISPC identified patient consent, and use and disclosure of sensitive medical information, as priority areas to be addressed through legal, technical, policy and educational solutions, and developed

an implementation plan to develop these solutions.¹⁷ The April 2007 implementation plan addresses consent management and related HIPAA and state law education, and includes the goal for MA-SHARE to build a Consent Manager application with testing in a regional HIE, and identifies a number of specific policy issues that must be resolved.¹⁸ During a six-month Phase II of MA-HISPC, which began in summer 2007, first steps to development of a consent management application have resulted in the administrative specifications for the consent information workflow. The complete project will take 24 months.^{18, 98} Major policy issues salient to this implementation that were identified by MA-HISPC are listed in the conclusion of this report.

The Federal Role in Health IT Adoption

There is justification for a strong federal role in HIT adoption for several reasons. The benefits of HIT are likely to have health-system wide impact on quality and cost improvement, and realizing the full value of those benefits will require interoperability which depends on coordinated, collective activity to build a national infrastructure.⁴¹ Another reason is the nature of the returns on HIT investment, where benefits accrue mostly to the payer of health services through improved efficiency, lower premiums and enhanced worker productivity rather than to the physicians and hospitals who are the purchasers of HIT.⁴¹ It is estimated that 90 percent of the economic benefits would go to insurers and purchasers of care, including the federal government,¹³ which paid at least 50 percent of the Commonwealth's Medicaid cost of about \$6.3 billion in 2005,⁹⁹ and 100 percent of the Medicare cost of \$7.9 billion in 2004.¹⁰⁰ The cost of HIT investment is concentrated while the benefits are

dispersed. Under these circumstances the market is unlikely to provide HIT at levels that optimize value to the public.

Health information technology has received escalating attention at the federal level over the past decade. National commissions have reported the strong need for federal action and the potential benefits of HIT adoption and nationwide interoperability,¹⁰¹ but despite ambitious goals, there has been limited federal investment and leadership to further the diffusion of these technologies at the state, community and provider level.

In April 2004, President George W. Bush issued an Executive Order calling for EHRs for most Americans by 2014. The President called for medical information to be available to all providers that will follow consumers regardless of site of care, enabling providers to access medical history, CPOE, electronic reminders, and to use quality to empower consumer choice through performance measurement and transparency.^{102, 103}

Following on the President's Executive Order, the President's Information Technology Advisory Committee in 2004 defined a strong federal role to provide coordinated national leadership to promote HIT diffusion and reap its potential cost and quality benefits across the health system.¹⁰⁴ The federal role prescribed by the Committee proposes a coordination of federal departments and agencies with the private sector, focused to overcome the technological barriers to adoption, by addressing issues of computer infrastructure and standards, privacy and security.¹⁰⁴ The Committee calls for funding of economic incentives for HIT investment by provider organizations, support for community and regional HIE demonstrations, identification and resolution of legal impediments to sharing of EHR systems among providers such as antifraud and anti-kickback statutes, and

development of a single set of EHR and HIE standards for transmission, privacy and security.¹⁰⁴

The President's Executive Order established the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC) as a sub-cabinet position reporting directly to the Secretary of HHS. The duties of this position are to help the President accomplish the ten-year goal of interoperable EHR, and lead the nation in the strategic planning for nationwide interoperable HIT.¹⁰² President Bush called for federal agencies to lead the way toward national adoption of HIT.¹⁰⁵ The Office of Personnel Management (OPM), the Department of Defense (DoD), and the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) must submit reports to ONC on their experiences implementing HIT and will collaborate with ONC to gather lessons learned and encourage the widespread adoption of HIT throughout the health care system.¹⁰⁶ The ONC is charged to create a National Health Information Network (NHIN), coordinate federal HIT outlays, and encourage creation of regional health information organizations (RHIOs) that would facilitate community-wide and regional clinical data exchange.³⁷ In addition to ONC, HHS supports other HIT initiatives including:

- The American Health Information Community (AHIC) was created in 2005 as a federal advisory committee of health care stakeholders from the public and private sectors, that makes recommendations to the Secretary of HHS on the promotion of HIE.¹⁰⁷
- The Nationwide Health Information Network (NHIN) Architecture Prototypes project is an HHS initiative that awarded four contracts totaling \$18.6 million, to health care and HIT consortia to develop NHIN prototypes.¹⁰⁸ Projects in several

states are participating in these consortia, including MA-SHARE in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.¹⁰⁹ The consortia will share information across the four prototypes to create one interconnected NHIN prototype infrastructure.¹¹⁰

- The Health Information Technology Standards Panel (HITSP) is convened by the American National Standards Panel under a \$3.3 million contract from HHS and chaired by John Halamka, MD, charged to outline HIT standards and develop a synchronization process to allow dissemination of those standards to enable interoperable HIE.^{109, 111}
- The Certification Commission for Health Information Technology (CCHIT) was awarded a \$2.7 million contract by HHS to develop standards certification guidelines and evaluation criteria for HIT products including EHRs and NHIN architectures.^{108, 109, 111}
- The Health IT Adoption Initiative was created by a contract awarded to George Washington University and Massachusetts General Hospital by HHS.^{109, 112} The initiative aims to develop consistent measures of EHR adoption rates to compare progress across the country and to accelerate the adoption of EHRs.^{109, 113} The initiative tracks the adoption of EHRs for the Department of Health and Human Services, and issues an annual report of survey results, to be used to measure progress toward the President's 10-year goal for widespread adoption of interoperable EHRs.¹¹³
- Under contract with HHS, **State RHIOs** are studied by the Foundation of Research and Education (FORE) and the American Health Information Management Association (AHIMA) to identify best practices for state-level

RHIO development.¹¹⁴ Massachusetts was among the nine states selected for study.^{34, 114}

President Bush issued another executive order in August 2006, requiring that federal agencies that purchase and deliver health care use interoperability standards as defined by HHS.¹⁰⁷

In addition to HHS and ONC, AHRQ, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), and Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) are also actively engaged in promoting the adoption of HIT nationally. Since 2004, AHRQ has awarded HIT-related grants totaling more than \$166 million in 38 states.^{115, 116} Funded projects include \$96 million in grants to promote access to HIT;¹¹⁷ Statewide and Regional Demonstrations of HIE awards of \$5 million each to five states in 2004 and 2005;¹¹⁸ an \$18.5 million contract to the National Organization for Research at the University of Chicago to encourage adoption of HIT by sharing knowledge:¹¹⁷ health IT implementation grants totaling \$22.3 million to 16 grantees in 15 states;¹¹⁹ and e-prescribing pilot projects jointly awarded with CMS to sites including Brigham and Women's Hospital in Boston.¹²⁰

HRSA's Office of Health Information Technology was created in 2005 to focus specifically on the HIT-related needs of the uninsured, underinsured, safety-net providers, and special-needs population. In 2007, HRSA awarded \$31.4 million in grants to Community Health Centers to expand HIT and implement EHRs.¹²¹

In the 109th Congress (January 2005 to January 2007), 41 bills relating to HIT were filed.¹²² The United States Senate is currently considering legislation introduced by Senator Edward M. Kennedy with bi-partisan support, the Wired for Health Care Quality Act of

2007, to enhance the adoption of a nationwide interoperable health information technology system and to improve the quality and reduce the cost of health care in the United States. The bill formalizes the role of private entities in the standards-setting process by establishing the public/private Partnership for Health Care Improvement, and authorizes three grant programs to facilitate the widespread adoption of interoperable HIT. The legislation also authorizes competitive grants to carry out demonstration projects to develop academic curricula integrating HIT systems in clinical education of health professionals, and establishes a Health Information Technology Resource Center within the Agency for Health Care Research and Quality to provide technical assistance and accelerate efforts to adopt interoperable HIT.¹²³ S. 1693 would authorize the appropriation of \$150 million in 2008 and an additional \$150 million in 2009 for grants to facilitate adoption of HIT.¹²⁴

The State of the States: State-level HIT Initiatives and Policy Environment

The federal role of infrastructure development and adoption incentives, and standard-setting for interoperability, data exchange, privacy and security,¹⁰⁴ can be complemented by leadership at the state level to provide the strategic vision and operational roadmap needed for state progress. The State Alliance for eHealth of the National Governor's Association (NGA) was formed in January 2007 under contract from the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, to give guidance to states to address state-level HIT issues and barriers to promote HIT adoption.¹²⁵ The Alliance for e-Health is co-chaired by Tennessee Governor Phil Bredesen and Vermont Governor Jim Douglas.¹²⁶ Voting members include Massachusetts Senator

Richard Moore and former New Hampshire Governor Jeanne Shaheen. Director of the Institute of Politics at Harvard University.¹²⁶ From a statespecific perspective, the Alliance will address barriers to HIE adoption and interoperability, privacy and security; address barriers and build consensus among states on regulations, laws and standards for interoperability and medical practice related to HIT, including licensure and liability; and spur partnerships among states and between the private and public sectors.¹²⁵ The Alliance is aimed at creating synergies between national and state-level HIE efforts, and to serve as a nexus point for the coordination of individual state roadmaps to HIT adoption.¹²⁷

In October 2007, a taskforce of the Alliance published a set of initial findings from a commissioned study by the UMass Medical School Center for Health Policy and Research in which interviews were conducted with 10 Medicaid agencies around the country, to analyze the opportunities and challenges for publicly funded healthcare programs to participate in and facilitate the use of HIE to improve healthcare quality, efficiency and effectiveness.¹²⁸ This study identified success factors for Medicaid participation in HIT and HIE initiatives.¹²⁹ These success factors include: the Governor has provided visible leadership of HIE and HIT efforts in Medicaid and SCHIP: multi-stakeholder collaborations between state agencies, payers (including Medicaid/SCHIP), providers and consumers are essential to foster trust among public and private stakeholders, build consensus, align priorities, develop recommendations for states' HIE and HIT initiatives, and advance interoperability standards and governance; flexible funding models like Medicaid Transformation Grants have been integral to expanding HIE and HIT initiatives in

Medicaid/SCHIP agencies: traditional funding mechanisms do not address the scope of HIT projects.^{128, 129} State roadmaps have been viewed as a successful tool to set statewide priorities involving HIT and HIE integration into publicly funded health programs.¹²⁹ The following is a summary of the detailed recommendations developed by the Alliance taskforce, based in part on the UMass Medical School Center for Health Policy and Research study:^{14, 129}

- The NGA should provide guidance to states on development of executive orders and legislation related to HIT and HIE adoption including procedures for designing a state HIE roadmap, requiring that all state agencies adopt and utilize interoperable HIT, and ensuring consumer protections of appropriate access to health data;
- Each state should develop or adopt a vision for state HIE that leverages existing and planned public and private HIE efforts and outline a state HIE by the end of 2008 for implementation by 2014. State roadmaps should describe how the state plans to implement HIE in the state, engage diverse stakeholders including consumers, providers and payers, develop and test HIE architectures based on approved standards, build financial, political support and legislative authority for HIE development; ensure consumer protections are in place, train and sustain an HIE-capable workforce, enable intrastate collaboration and data exchange. In close coordination with the Office of the National Coordinator and other federal agencies, NGA should play a

leadership role on behalf of all governors to facilitate the coordination of individual state roadmaps to create a national interstate HIE strategy.

- Governors should designate a single authority for the state to coordinate state government based HIE implementation and work in collaboration with public/private HIE efforts;
- Governors and state legislatures should align to establish flexible mechanisms to develop and sustain HIE;
- States should fund greater development of technical assistance resources for state Medicaid/SCHIP and state IT agencies to build workforce competency on HIT, aligned with the Health Resources and Services Administration technical assistance toolbox modules;
- State Medicaid agencies implementing EHR systems should require use of certified, standards-based EHR and HIE capabilities, and should implement portable, private and secure access to personal health records for Medicaid enrollees. State Medicaid agencies should develop the cultural and linguistic competency to engage diverse Medicaid/SCHIP enrollees to access their personal health records;
- State Medicaid agencies should implement incentives and reimbursement polices such as pay for participation, rate adjustment, case management and pay for performance, that encourage provider adoption and

use of HIT and participation in HIE.¹⁴

Several states have developed roadmaps or statewide strategic plans for IT adoption.¹⁵ The contents of these plans include many of the elements found in the NGA recommendations and other goals and initiatives such as:^{15, 34, 130, 131}

- Establish the state's vision for information technology that adopts a strategy of EHR adoption and HIE connectivity to promote improvements in safety, quality and population health. The state can not afford to focus only on regional HIE connectivity: EHR and HIE adoption must be pursued in parallel because a grid of statewide HIE connectivity is only useful if providers can connect to the network infrastructure with their own EHR systems.³⁷
- Establish a single state-level public/private entity that has sufficient authority over statelevel HIE governance.³⁴ Establish a formal public/private stakeholder partnership to promote adoption of EHRs by providers;
- Designate a formal point of leadership and coordination within state government to facilitate HIE participation, investments, and strategies across executive departments and agencies.³⁴ Evaluate the opportunity for the state to use its various roles to actively participate in efforts to promote adoption and interoperability of HIT and EHRs, and engage state HIT systems to participate in appropriate regional and statewide collaboratives;⁵¹ Coordinate all

public HIT initiatives and programs;

- Consistently evaluate the financial and non-financial return on investment of public HIT initiatives;⁵¹ Conduct use and readiness assessment of the provider population for HIT adoption; Identify and address barriers to adoption including state laws and regulations; Define incentives for adoption and use of EHR and HIE;
- Leverage a range of technologies with the potential to dramatically lower health care costs and improve quality, including electronic communication between patients and physicians, e-prescribing, EHR that includes CPOE, HIE, telemedicine and disease management;⁴⁶
- Develop principles for financing of HIT investment; Develop plans for investment and sustainability of HIT projects;⁵¹
- Develop and disseminate quality measurement standards for HIT;⁵¹ Develop and establish requirements for use of HIT to promote safety, quality, and transparency;
- Study and develop ways to use HIT to reduce health and access disparities in the state;
- Define steps to develop statewide HIE infrastructure connecting providers, plans, public agencies, pharmacies, etc.; Identify and communicate standards for interoperability, privacy and security to HIT stakeholders statewide;^{33, 132} develop a statewide process for adopting and promoting standards; Define

data for interoperable information sharing among providers, plans, public entities and consumers; Address privacy and security concerns, and establish policies to ensure protection of confidentiality and security; Establish a governance structure for public and private data exchange;

- Develop and communicate principles for consumer rights and protections; Educate and inform consumers and other stakeholders about opportunities and benefits of statewide HIT;
- Integrate HIT infrastructure to promote and improve population/public health; Expand use of population health data to develop state HIT and public health policy and planning;
- Collaborate with other states to share knowledge and ensure secure interoperable exchange of information across state lines;¹¹
- Promote the state's representation on national health information and standards boards;
- Research and evaluate non-health care initiatives that may enhance infrastructure or other resources required for HIT adoption;⁵¹

More than 150 HIE projects have been initiated in almost three quarters of the states as collaborations among public, private and nonprofit organizations to promote HIT development and facilitate a shift from competitive to collaborative use of shared data.³⁴ These initiatives are typically grass-roots, local capacity-building collaboratives, tailored to the preferences of state populations and governments, that aim to serve statewide quality and cost goals.³⁴

The eHealth Initiative,¹³³ a non-profit independent organization that provides guidance to states making strides in HIT, found that only six percent of states are at the level of statewide HIE implementation, eight percent have plans to go statewide, 29 percent are working to develop a statewide plan, and 25 percent are working to establish state-level leadership of HIT efforts.¹³⁴ Seventeen percent of states are involved in regional HIT implementations and 15 percent are just developing public awareness of the need for HIE.¹³⁴

Many states are considering or have enacted legislation to promote HIT and address barriers to its implementation. Legislation ranges from establishing an HIT entity, defining standards, meeting federally defined standards, issuing security and privacy regulations, integration of HIT activities among public programs including public health, Medicaid and other state agencies, guidelines for quality and transparency, and funding.¹¹⁶ Some states have more strict requirements for protection of privacy and security of health data than federal guidelines, and supersede those required by HIPAA legislation.¹³⁵ Ten states^d have issued executive orders supporting the use of HIT and HIE.¹³⁴ Overall, at least 29 states have some level of legislative activity including executive orders, proposed budget appropriations, introduced legislation, or commissioned planning for HIEs.¹¹⁰ Between 2005 and 2006, 38 state legislatures file 121 bills specifically relating to HIT, and 36 bills were passed and signed into law in 24 states.¹³⁴ As of April 2007, 41 states had over 150 HIT bills pending in their legislature and 27 states had EHR bills up

^d States with executive orders include: Arizona, 2005; California, 2006; Florida, 2004; Illinois, 2006; Kansas, 2004; Missouri, 2006; North Carolina, 1994; Tennessee, 2006; Virginia, 2006; and Wisconsin, 2005.

for consideration.¹¹⁶

Several states' initiatives offer models that add to the momentum to expand nationwide HIE capability,³⁴ and projects continue to proliferate. Projects vary in scope from small, local initiatives to collaboratives working toward statewide implementation. Many projects are seeded by local grant funding, but are struggling to find the means for sustainability. Several states have larger projects that receive more significant funding from federal sources, and are moving toward statewide implementation and, ultimately, interoperability with the future Nationwide Health Information Network (NHIN). Five of these states are highlighted in the appendix. They include California, with HIE efforts in more than half of the states' 58 counties; Delaware, the first state to implement statewide HIE; Indiana, which hosts one of the most established and studied HIE projects in the country; and Pennsylvania, whose Governor Edward Rendell aims to reform health care in the state through, in part, merging the issues of quality and HIT expansion. We also discuss a three-state HIE prototype for a Nationwide Health Information Network that includes California, Indianapolis and Boston.

The Massachusetts Health IT Policy Environment

Compared to some other states, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts has contributed less in financial support, incentives and directives aimed at driving health IT adoption, however there are some achievements worth noting.

Governor Deval Patrick proposed an investment in HIT in the Commonwealth via \$9.3 million in FY08 to fund a new internet-based reporting and billing service to reduce the state's health care costs by an estimated \$11 million annually.¹³⁶ This investment will complete a new billing and invoice management system for HHS, leveraging an additional \$5.1 million in federal funds.¹³⁷ A \$6.25 million investment is proposed for a new Medicaid Management Information System, to leverage an additional \$47.7 million in federal funds.¹³⁷

In the last two legislative sessions, three pieces of legislation have been signed that have an impact on HIT.^{138, 139} In 2006, as part of the Massachusetts health reform legislation (Chapter 58), \$5 million in funding was transferred to the Massachusetts Technology Collaborative to support initial implementation of its CPOE initiative and other ativities.⁴⁸ As part of the appropriations act of 2007, the office of Medicaid is authorized to submit a proposal to CMS for a grant to fund a MassHealth e-Prescribing pilot project to Medicaid providers integrated into the Rx Gateway already under development by MA-SHARE.¹⁴⁰ On October 10, 2007, Chapter 130 was enacted, to establish an Electronic Health Records Task Force within the Executive Office of Health and Human Services (EOHHS) to make recommendations on an EHR implementation for enrollees in MassHealth, SCHIP, Commonwealth Care or safety net care programs.¹⁴¹ The task force is coordinated by the Chief Information Officer of the EOHHS and consists of representatives of VHA facilities in the Commonwealth, UMass Medical School, the e-Rx Collborative, MA-SHARE, the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium, the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative and Masspro.¹⁴¹

Compared to some other states, few legislation-based HIT initiatives have been enacted in the Commonwealth, but much has been proposed, with Senator Richard Moore taking a primary leadership role. Legislative proposals include grant and loan funding for HIT projects, investment in HIT to stimulate quality and economic opportunity, promote HIT in underserved areas, accelerate adoption of EHRs and CPOE, invest in quality and safety through the use of HIT, provide incentive payments to providers to utilize CPOE, reimburse providers for electronic consultations, establish guidelines for the use of the internet in medical practice, privacy and security protections, and other proposals.

In spite of a relative lack of enabling legislation, much HIT and HIE development has taken place in the Commonwealth. Following the example of Chapter 58's establishment of the Healthcare Quality and Cost Council, and its stimulus of initiatives such as the allpayer database, stronger legislative and executive support may be needed to propel the state to the next level in building HIT and HIE infrastructure.

Policy Issues

An overarching question facing public and private HIT stakeholders in the Commonwealth is: should Massachusetts empower a formalized, state-led multistakeholder public/private partnership and develop a Massachusetts Statewide Plan for Health Information Technology that documents the partnership's consensus on the steps toward enhancing HIT adoption? A number of policy issues and questions face the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on the road to HIT adoption, and might be addressed by a Massachusetts Statewide Plan for Health Information Technology. Several issues are suggested by the NGA guidance outlined in the above section, "The State of the States: State-level HIT Initiatives and Policy Environment."

There is justification for a strong public role in HIT and HIE adoption. HIT and HIE may reduce Medicaid and SCHIP costs by reducing medical errors and increasing administrative and clinical efficiency.¹⁴ There is an opportunity to enhance Medicaid and SCHIP through widespread adoption and use of HIT to share information, coordinate care and improve quality.¹⁴ The projected gains in quality and cost improvement have the potential for health-system wide impact that benefits the public welfare. These benefits, however, depend on an interoperable infrastructure that requires coordination and investment by the public sector, and that can not be accomplished by the private sector alone. In the absence of a strong federal role in promoting HIT, the state can help fill the gap that the market is unlikely to fill because the cost of HIT investment is concentrated while the benefits are dispersed. Under these circumstances the market is unlikely to provide HIT at levels that optimize value to the public.

The public sector has an important role to play in HIT diffusion, because some of the enablers and barriers may be best addressed at the state level. Financial barriers to private investment by physician offices in HIT implementation include lack of investment funding, and training and maintenance costs, both at start-up and ongoing, and the lack of a clear business case at the provider level, especially for smaller physician practices. Creative state-driven funding mechanisms can help providers and community coalitions to secure the needed start-up and sustaining funding. Cohesive and coordinated standards and policies are needed to ensure privacy, consumer protections, quality, information security, and technical compatibility among interconnected systems housed in different organizations. The federal role of nationwide infrastructure development and adoption incentives, and standard-setting for interoperability, data exchange, privacy and security,¹⁰⁴ can be complemented by leadership at the state level to provide the strategic vision and operational roadmap needed for state progress. Only the state

can address many of the state-specific policy issues arising from important privacy and security concerns that protect the public interest.

For HIT to achieve its promise of health system transformation, it must be combined with properly aligned incentives that reward patient outcomes, improvements in efficiency,³⁵ adoption and use of technology. The state has important purchasing and incentive power to wield to encourage quality, efficiency, and diffusion of technology.

Many advances in HIT and HIE adoption in Massachusetts have been made because of the culture of innovation, entrepreneurship, and collaboration that distinguishes our state. Still, unlike some states, the Commonwealth has no broadly vetted formal plan that defines statewide goals and milestones for integrated and coordinated public and private HIT and HIE adoption. While the Commonwealth and various coalitions have HIE and HIT roadmaps and plans, these are not necessarily aligned and coordinated to ensure that statewide milestones and goals are defined and achieved. In the last two years, many states have increased their level of Executive commitment, legislative support and funding of statewide HIT expansion. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts is active as a key stakeholder to the various HIT coalitions that dot the Massachusetts landscape and stands to gain much from a stepped-up investment in the form of primary leadership of public/private development and governance of HIT and HIE diffusion. Leadership at the state level is necessary to develop a public/private strategy to fund and operate a statewide fully integrated health information capability.

Several states have developed roadmaps or statewide strategic plans for HIT adoption,¹⁵ which are viewed as successful tools to set statewide priorities involving

HIT and HIE integration into publicly funded health programs.¹²⁹ The State eHealth Alliance of the National Governor's Association, under contract from the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, guides states on development of statewide plans, executive orders and legislation to promote HIT and HIE adoption.¹²⁵ The Alliance recommends that states adopt a statewide strategic plan for HIE that leverages existing and planned public and private HIE efforts by the end of 2008 for implementation statewide by 2014.^{14, 129} Further, the NGA recommends that Governors and state legislatures designate a single state authority to coordinate state governmentbased HIE implementation and to work in collaboration with public/private HIE efforts.^{14, 129} Governors and legislatures are recommended to establish flexible funding mechanisms to develop and sustain HIE and state Medicaid agencies can play a role through incentives and reimbursement policies that encourage provider adoption and use of HIT and participation in statewide HIE.¹²⁹

Massachusetts HIE initiatives have learned that the state cannot afford to focus only on regional HIE connectivity: EHR and HIE adoption must be pursued in parallel because a technology grid of statewide HIE connectivity is only useful if providers can connect to the network infrastructure with their own EHR systems.³⁷ A single state-level public/private entity with sufficient authority is necessary to this goal.^{34, 51} Because differences in the availability of investment funding among providers can cause HIT to exacerbate health disparities, an important public role is to study and develop ways to use HIT to reduce health and access disparities in the state.⁵¹

Policy Issues. The Commonwealth faces policy issues in five key areas concerning

the statewide advancement of HIT and HIE: funding; privacy, security and standards; public health; racial and ethnic disparities, and serving of vulnerable populations; and coordination and governance.

Funding. The number of health information exchange initiatives in Massachusetts is impressive and growing, but they are fragmented and underfunded.¹⁸ There is no existing model to develop the resources to pay for statewide adoption of interconnected EHRs.⁴⁴ MA-HISPC has not yet identified sufficient private and public funding to sustain its 24 month HIE privacy and security project to address the key issue of gaining patient consent to share medical information.¹⁸ The Commonwealth's premier interconnected EHR initiative, the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative, was funded through an initial \$50 million private sector contribution. Current operations are sustainable through July 2008, but sustainability beyond that date is at risk without the commitment of further funding. Will this \$50 million investment be leveraged to return its full financial and non-financial value through the ultimate achievement of statewide HIE? Further, there is as yet no formal consensus that the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative is the Commonwealth's model for communitywide HIT adoption.

An early estimate of the cost of HIT implementation in Massachusetts to achieve 100 percent adoption is \$802 million for EHR, \$304 million for Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE) and \$220 million for interoperability.¹⁵ This estimate bases its projection on a 5-year cost of ambulatory EHR implementation at around \$60,000 per provider.¹⁵ The 5-year net benefits are estimated at \$832 million for ambulatory EHR and acute inpatient CPOE.¹⁵ Based on its pilot, the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative has developed a more refined estimate of the cost of modified statewide adoption of its model, projecting the costs to be approximately \$500 million.¹⁶ This estimate is refined based on the pilot's experience with actual investment, installation, training and support costs. Economies were gained from centralized purchasing and technical support services. In addition, this cost projection used revised assumptions of the number of physicians in the state who would draw on this investment funding to adopt EHRs.

A creative combination of public and private funding streams, possibly accompanied by appropriate tax and reimbursement incentives, may offer a solution to the funding problem. MassHealth, Commonwealth Care and Commonwealth Choice, with the potential to capture enhanced federal matching funds to fuel part of the investment, and the power of reimbursement policies as incentives, could be used as leverage to promote HIT adoption.

Privacy, Security and Standards. Policy is needed to articulate and resolve the patient consent issues surrounding the use, disclosure and sharing of patient medical information while providing consumers with stringent privacy and security protections^{33, 132} through legal, technical, policy and educational means, and the MA-HISPC implementation plan proposes a solution. ^{17, 18} Consumer and patient education must be addressed to encourage public support for HIE initiatives.¹⁸ Statewide advocacy can be depended upon to develop and communicate principles for consumer rights and protections and to educate and inform consumers and other stakeholders about opportunities and benefits of statewide HIT, but coordinated technical solutions and the necessary legislative and regulatory guidance and protections must be put into place.

Public health. The role of current and future statewide HIT and HIE infrastructure in the promotion and improvement of public health has yet to be defined in the Commonwealth. The infrastructure to enable data collection and sharing is available, and the use of this data can be expanded and applied to public health policy and planning.

Racial and ethnic disparities, and serving of vulnerable populations. As interconnected HIT and HIE diffuses statewide, the potential exists to exclude several critical and vulnerable populations.⁸⁹ Excluded populations may include some Medicare patients, people who are uninsured who pay out of pocket, or people who have switched health plans. Rural populations could be excluded if there are regional variations in the availability of HIT and HIE that disadvantage rural providers. Health and care disparities may be exacerbated by disparities in HIT adoption because larger, financially stronger providers are better able to make the necessary investments. Plans for statewide HIT and HIE goals must address this possibility, and include goals for HIT use and adoption that are inclusive and that reduce racial and ethnic health and care disparities.

Coordination and Governance.

Coordination of policies and business practices is necessary to achieve interconnected HIT among organizations, but this continues to be a challenge.¹⁸ Much HIE activity across Massachusetts is still occurring in silos,¹⁸ which could be spanned with the establishment of a single, coordinating public/private partnership.

A Public/Private Partnership?

Public/private coalitions are key to the successful diffusion of HIT and HIE. Several existing coalitions in Massachusetts, appropriately empowered, offer a potential coordination point for a statewide public/private HIT/HIE

governance body. Chapter 58 established an important and promising new mechanism for cost and quality improvement through the Health Care Quality and Cost Council chaired by Dr. JudyAnn Bigby, Secretary of Health and Human Services. The Council has a mission to promote quality, safety and cost improvement, using HIT to establish a consumer health information website, and has the authority to establish standards and collect claims and quality data from insurers and health care providers.⁴⁸ In October 2007, the Council created a coalition by contract with the Maine Health Information Center and subcontractors MHDC and Masspro to build an all-payer health information database for Massachusetts.⁴⁹ Another coalition was recently formed, the Electronic Health Records Task Force within the Executive Office of Health and Human Services (EOHHS) to make recommendations on an EHR implementation for enrollees in MassHealth, SCHIP, Commonwealth Care or safety net programs.¹⁴¹ The task force is coordinated by the Chief Information Officer of EOHHS and consists of representatives of VHA facilities in the Commonwealth, UMass Medical School, the e-Rx Collborative, MA-SHARE, MHDC, the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative and Masspro.¹⁴¹ A third potential point of coordination is the MA-**HISPC MA-Implementation Planning** Work Group (MA-IPWG), a public/private multi-stakeholder coalition comprised of Commonwealth of Massachusetts, MHDC, consumer advocacy, health plan, provider, and private legal representatives. One, or a combination, of the existing coalitions could form the launch platform for the public/private leadership body that future statewide progress depends upon.

Conclusion

There is much evidence to support the premise that quality and efficiency gains are possible from statewide interoperable HIT and HIE. Massachusetts HIE projects are technologically and operationally advanced, but they are still just initial steps toward full, statewide interoperable HIE.¹⁸ Future progress is dependent on strong public/private partnerships.¹⁰¹ The Commonwealth has an important leadership role to play in this partnership, especially significant in the absence of a strong federal role in encouraging HIT adoption, and because of the potential for HIT to benefit the public welfare. This benefit depends on an infrastructure and policy solutions that require increased public sector investment in funding, and executive and legislative guidance, in addition to private sector resources.

Massachusetts is unique in the breadth and depth of organizations and expertise brought to bear on expanding HIT interoperability,¹⁴² and a thirty year history of collaboration. The provider community, and the private and public health care sectors, are committed to making gains through collaboration.⁴⁴ The Commonwealth's virtual RHIO consisting of four organizations is a premier example of the state's culture of collaboration. Although the membership and missions of these organizations appear to overlap, they have established complementary roles to promote HIE and EHR activity.³⁷ The Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative offers another illustration of the success of private sector partnerships that have moved the state to prominence in the national HIT landscape.

Massachusetts needs to build upon its important successes and strong technological base to address key policy issues to enhance the Commonwealth's HIT capability. Increased public funding is needed to supplement the private sector's investment. Privacy and security protections must be further developed to build the public trust necessary to share medical information. A comprehensive strategy is needed to integrate existing innovations. A public/private coalition that provides strategic guidance, statewide planning and governance is essential for future progress.

On December 5, 2007 the Massachusetts Health Policy Forum and the Massachusetts Health Data Consortium will convene health leaders in the Commonwealth for a forum entitled, Health Information Technology in Massachusetts: A Public/Private Partnership? The overarching policy question to be addressed is this: Will Massachusetts capitalize upon this collaborative history, its unique confluence of resources and talent, and its current investment in HIT capability, and form a public/private partnership to define the next steps toward statewide adoption and national leadership in health information technology? And, further, what should the state's role be in facilitating HIT adoption?

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the many people who contributed expertise, thoughtful comments and valuable input to this paper: Shaun Alfreds, David Bates, MD; Michael Bergan, David Blumenthal, MD; Ray Campbell, Lisa Fenichel, Valerie Fleishman, John Glaser, John Halamka, MD; Jay Himmelstein, MD; Timothy Hoppe, John McDonough, Signe Peterson, James Roosevelt, Jr., Lynda Rudolph, Craig Schneider, Diane Stone, Ken Thompson and Micky Tripathi. We would also like to extend a special "thank you" to Anna Shvarts for her many talents and constant support.

Appendix

California

California, the most populous state in the country with a very diverse 36.5 million residents in 2006.¹⁴³ has met significant milestones toward its huge goal of interconnection of its health system and patients. As of May 2006, there were 16 HIE efforts within the state, in 24 out of 58 counties.^{144, 145} Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger issued an Executive Order on July 25, 2006 to commit California to attaining 100 percent electronic health data exchange between payers, providers, consumers, researchers and government agencies within 10 years.¹⁴⁶ The Governor's order created the California eHealth Action Forum, to develop a statewide HIT implementation plan that would be capable of interconnecting to the future NHIN, due to the Governor by July 1, 2007.¹⁴⁶ An Executive Order issued on March 14, 2007 added to this plan by committing additional state resources to provide leadership, and increase support and incentives to promote adoption of HIT, support standards and achieve a 100 percent interoperable statewide HIE; to increase transparency through reporting of quality and pricing; and to promote quality and efficiency in health service delivery.147

The California Regional Health Information Organization (CalRHIO) was established in January 2006 as partnership of business, health care and policy leaders including the California Department of Health and Human Services and the Director of CMS, Region 9, to develop innovation and funding opportunities for a statewide secure HIE.¹⁴⁸ CalRHIO works to integrate California's goal with national benchmarks and standards, and has a primary focus to ensure the participation

of safety net providers and underserved populations in HIE.^{148, 149} CalRHIO operates a HIE utility which helps facilitate interoperability and improves data access control, the integration of data from multiple health system sources, and the management of privacy and security of patient identity.¹⁴⁴ Funding is provided by the HealthTech Center, the California HealthCare Foundation, hospital and delivery systems and the Blue Shield Foundation, and a \$350,000 federal grant.¹⁵⁰ Overall funding for CalRHIO total more than \$4.6 million and comes form a variety of sources including Sutter Health, Blue Cross of California Foundation, Kaiser Permanente, Blue Shield of California, and California HealthCare Foundation.¹⁴⁵ Private seed money will be sought for the start-up expenses of the HIE utility, estimated at \$300 million.¹⁵¹ In addition to statewide HIE implementation, CalRHIO is working on 2 or 3 pilot projects to implement HIT availability in hospital emergency department, and to test the standards required for HIE interoperability, projects which are funded from diversified sources.145

Delaware

Delaware is the first state to implement statewide HIE.¹⁵² Delaware's primary HIT project, the Delaware Health Information Network (DHIN),¹⁵³ was created in 1997 by HB276.¹⁵⁴ The Delaware Health Care Commission operates DHIN as a public/private partnership to provide the infrastructure for statewide clinical information exchange. DHIN's mission is to improve quality and efficiency of health care in Delaware by facilitating statewide HIT.¹⁵³ DHIN is a public/private partnership of physicians, insurers, hospitals, commercial laboratories, community organizations, policymakers, employers and patients including the Delaware Health Care

Commission, Delaware HealthCare Association, Delaware State Chamber of Commerce, Delaware Department of Health and Social Services, Delaware Department of Insurance, Delaware State Budget Office, blue Cross Blue Shield of Delaware, and the Medical Society of Delaware.¹⁵⁵

In October 2005, DHIN received federal support for its HIE implementation, becoming one of six states to receive a five-year \$4.7 million State and Regional Demonstration Project Contract from AHRQ for the development of statewide HIE.¹⁵⁵ Delaware's HIE will deliver lab test results, radiology reports, and hospital admission and discharge reports to three hospital systems, five doctors' practices with 30 offices and 70 physicians, and LabCorp. More users will be added in the next phase. About 30 percent of Delaware physicians have electronic medical records and physicians' offices need only a PC running Microsoft Windows and a highspeed Internet connection to use DHIN services.¹⁵² DHIN is being built by the technology supplier Medicity of Salt Lake City, partnered with Perot Systems, the team that recently won a contract to build the statewide HIE for California.¹⁵² Funding sources, in addition to the \$4.7 million AHRQ grant, include \$2 million from the state government and \$2 million from the three hospital systems, LabCorp and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Delaware.¹⁵² The network is not charging fees for its services and is expecting more funding from the state and the participating health care companies.¹⁵² In the next phase more users will be added, and developers plan to offer a patient portal, insurance claims submission services, public health reporting of contagious diseases, clinical decision support and chronic disease management services.¹⁵² In July 2007, the state of Delaware appropriated an additional \$3

million to sustain DHIN for fiscal year 2008.¹⁵⁶

Indiana

Indiana is similar in population size to Massachusetts¹⁵⁷ and is also considered a leader in HIT. The Indiana Health Information Exchange (IHIE) is one of the most established and studied HIE efforts in the US.¹¹⁰ Governor Daniels issued an Executive Order in March 2007 to reaffirm the state's progress in secure interoperable HIE, and to commit the state to continue to support HIE expansion and to meet interoperability standards approved by the Secretary of HHS.¹⁵⁸

The Indiana Network for Patient Care is city-wide electronic data exchange launched by the Regenstrief Institute in the 1990s in Indianapolis, that offers hospital registration records, inpatient lab information and emergency department data.¹⁵⁹ When a patient is seen in any of the 11 emergency rooms operated by the five consortium hospital systems, with consent all their medical information can be viewed electronically.¹⁶⁰ One of the oldest HIEs in the country, the Indiana Network for Patient Care began sharing information for health service delivery. research and public health purposes in 1997.

In 2004, the Indiana Health Information Exchange was organized to expand on the Indiana Network for Patient Care.¹¹⁰ The mission of this group is to improve quality, safety and efficiency of health care throughout Indiana by sharing data through an interoperable, standardized, and secure HIE.¹⁶¹ The Indiana Health Information Exchange has expanded HIE capability to include local and state public health departments, Indiana Medicaid, medication management companies, large physician practices, and health systems.¹¹⁰ Its application Docs4Docs delivers clinical information between physician offices, laboratories, radiology departments via a web-based system, then transfers clinical data directly into individual EHRs.¹⁶² The implementation is being expanded to other parts of the state; to date 25 hospitals and over 5000 physicians are connected.¹⁶³

Key partners in Indiana's HIE efforts include employers, the City of Indianapolis, health systems, Community Health Network, Indiana State Department of Health, Indiana State Medical Association, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis Medical Society and Regenstrief Institute. Funding comes from an AHRQ State and Regional Demonstrations grant totaling \$5 million over five years, the Foundation for eHealth Initiative, the State of Indiana, and the private sector.^{164, 165} Federally funded HIT projects include: a partnership with eHealth Initiative to share best practices on the sustainability of HIE; a pilot project to measure and report on physician practices funded by CMS and AHRQ; and the Connecting for Health Consortium, a working group to develop a prototype National Health Information Network.¹⁶⁵

Pennsylvania

On January 17, 2007 Governor Edward G. Rendell released a "Prescription for Pennsylvania", aiming to reform health care in the state, that includes the goal of merging the issues of quality and HIT expansion.¹⁶⁶ The prescription includes a proposal to update hospital regulations to include a requirement for state of the art patient safety and EHRs.¹⁶⁶ The Governor's initiative calls for phasing in the implementation of interoperable EHRs , e-Prescribing, CPOE, and medication bar coding. Additionally, a High Technology Commission will be established to develop standards for interoperability of personal health records and EHRs, and to create a plan for financial incentives to encourage providers to adopt these systems. By 2008 all acute care facilities must meet the guidelines established by the Health Technology Commission and by 2009 they must have EHRs implemented that meet the Commission's criteria.¹⁶⁷

The Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative was created in 2005 as a public/private partnership to develop a statewide plan for HIT and HIE.¹⁶⁸ The Initiative is working to accelerate the adoption and use of EHRs, HIE and personal health records in the Commonwealth, issuing a report in April 2007 that made specific recommendations on how the state can combine smaller HIE initiatives and effect broad collaboration toward a statewide interoperable HIE.^{168, 169}

Pennsylvania has about a dozen RHIO and health information projects underway, regional and local HIT projects in Pennsylvania.¹⁷⁰ Central Pennsylvania Health Information Collaborative connects hospitals, physicians other health providers in a 31-county region via a regional health information exchange.¹⁷¹ Geisinger clinic in Danville, Pennsylvania is funded through two AHRO grants totaling \$1.7 million to provide planning (1-year, \$200,000) and implementation (3year, \$1.5 million).¹⁷² Highmark eHealth Collaborative in northeastern Pennsylvania provides grants of up to \$7,000 per physician to implement e-prescribing and EHRs, requiring the practice to pay at least 25 percent of the cost.¹⁷²

Philadelphia Health Information Exchange is funded by a \$1.7 million grant from the National Institutes of Health to facilitate interoperability and portability of EHRs to create an HIE to support sharing of medical records.¹⁷² The West Central Pennsylvania Health Care Network connects 5 hospitals in 3 counties with EHRs to share data across health care facilities in rural Pennsylvania.¹⁷² West Central received a \$1.5 million grant from AHRQ, other grant and foundation funding, and is following an aggressive EHR implementation schedule.¹⁷³

In a significant setback, the Northeastern Pennsylvania RHIO established in July 2006 to provide HIE for 24 healthcare institutions including 22 hospitals and 6000 providers across 13 counties, closed after less than one year.^{170, 172} The initiative disbanded because of lack of community support and funding, including some financial support that was promised but was not delivered.¹⁷⁴ Initial estimates projected that \$11 million in start-up costs would be needed, and that another \$2 million a year would be required to sustain the effort.¹⁷⁰ The board indicated that there was doubt that any of the group's work from the past year could be salvaged.¹⁷⁴

The Pittsburgh Regional Health Information Network offers another cautionary tale. The Initiative operated from 2001 to 2003 as an HIT collaborative of the Pittsburgh Regional Health Initiative (PRHI) Chronic Care Model Action Group, to build a chronic care information system to improve the coordination of care for people with diabetes, depression and other chronic illnesses.¹⁷⁵ PRHI says the effort was an idea ahead of its time, and was terminated in 2005.¹⁷⁵ This initiative failed in part due to the uncertainty of national HIT policy environment that provided little guidance or standards for data sharing across competing institutions for community benefit.¹⁷⁶

Tennessee

On April 6, 2006, Governor Phil Bredesen issued an executive order to create a 16member Governor's eHealth Advisory Council that includes all stakeholders to Tennessee's HIT efforts, with the purpose of guiding the governor and the legislature on development of statewide HIE, and to offer guidance in overcoming barriers to adoption.¹⁷⁷ Four local HIE projects are underway in Tennessee: Mid-south eHealth Alliance (2004), CareSpark (2005), IVHIN Knoxville (2003) and Nashville (2006). A description of two of the larger initiatives follows.

Mid-south eHealth Alliance, begun in 2004, operates a RHIO providing medical information for approximately one million people in 3 Memphis-area counties.¹⁷⁸ The goal of the project is to evaluate the impact and facilitate the use of HIE focusing on emergency department EHRs, and to improve collection of public health information.¹⁷⁹ Collaborators include patients, payers, providers, public health organizations, and state and local government.¹⁸⁰ Mid-South received a State and Regional Demonstration grant from AHRQ in 2004 for \$4.8 million over 5 years, to establish statewide HIE.¹⁸¹ The State of Tennessee appropriated an additional \$7.2 million over the same five vear period.¹⁸¹ Vanderbilt University has contributed significant in-kind resources through donation of staff time and technology and is responsible for managing the AHRO contract.¹⁸¹

CareSpark was launched in 2005 by the **Community Health Improvement** Partnership as a collaborative project among 17 counties in Northeastern Tennessee and Southwestern Virginia.¹¹⁰ A stakeholder coalition including hospitals, physician practices, employers, pharmacies, a medical school, public health department and insurers participates in the project.¹¹⁰ In 2005, CareSpark received federal support to perform testing of a prototype of the National Health Information Network, under a contract awarded by the Department of Health and Human Services to a network consortium working under the direction of Accenture.¹⁸² In Massachusetts, MA-SHARE is involved in a similar effort under a parallel contract.¹⁸²

A Three-State National HIE Prototype

Connecting for Health conducted a threestate prototype of electronic health information exchange based on its Common Framework beginning in late 2004. The communities of Mendocino County, CA, Indianapolis and Boston were connected in an HIE, and successfully shared electronic health information within and among the three communities.¹³² The prototype was designed as a test of the Common Framework, using its detailed technical specifications and policies for information use, access, privacy and security.¹⁸³ The three communities are quite different in terms of health care institutions and population served: Mendocino Health Records Exchange (HRE) in Mendocino County, a rural northern California community made up of safety net clinics, rural hospitals, public health and small practices; Indianapolis hospitals networked by the Indiana Health Information Exchange and Regenstrief Institute; and links between institutions facilitated by Massachusetts SHARE involving payers, providers, patients and employees in Massachusetts.¹⁸³ A successful test of the three-state prototype was conducted in early 2006, achieving a milestone toward the secure, private exchange of health information. The prototype effort is managed by the Markle Foundation and funded by Markle and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.¹⁸⁴

References

- 1. Institute of Medicine Committee on Data Standards for Patient Safety. *Key Capabilities of an Electronic Health Record System: Letter Report.* Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2003.
- 2. Sprague L. *Electronic Health Records: How Close? How Far to Go?* Washington DC: National Health Policy Forum at The George Washington University; September 29 2004.
- **3.** Halamka J, Aranow M, Ascenzo C, et al. E-Prescribing Collaboration in Massachusetts: Early Experiences from Regional Prescribing Projects. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. May/June 2006;13(3):239-244.
- **4.** Alfreds S. *Health Information Technology Adoption in Massachusetts: Costs and Timeframe*: UMass Medical School, Center for Health Policy and Research; 2006.
- Simon S, Kaushal R, Cleary P, et al. Correlates of Electronic Health Record Adoption in Office Pratices: A Statewide Survey. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. Jan/Feb 2007;14(1):110-117.
- 6. Institute of Medicine. *Crossing the Quality Chasm.* Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press; 2001.
- 7. RAND Health. *Health Information Technology: Can HIT Lower Costs and Improve Quality?*: RAND Corporation; 2005.
- 8. Berman S. John M. Eisenberg Patient Safety Awards: Research David W. Bates, MD, MSc, Brigham and Women's Hospital. *Journal on Quality Improvement* (*JCAHO*). December 2002;28(12):651-659.
- **9.** Ball MJ, Garets DE, Handler TJ. Leveraging Information Technology Towards Enhancing Patient Care and a Culture of Safety in the US. *Methods of Information in Medicine*. 2003(5):503-508.
- **10.** Halamka J. Health Information Technology: Shall We Wait for the Evidence? *Annals of Internal Medicine*. May 16 2006;144(10):775-776.
- **11.** Sprague L, Coberly S. *The Electronic Health Record in Practice: Why, How, and What Next?*: National Health Policy Forum; September 26 2006.
- **12.** Walker J, Pan E, Johnston D, Adler-Milstein J, Bates D, Milddleton B. The Value of Health Care Information Exchange and Interoperability. *Health Affairs*. 19 January 2005;W5:10-18.
- **13.** Middleton B. Achieving US Health Information Technology Adoption: The Need for a Third Hand. *Health Affairs*. Sept/Oct 2005;24(5):1269-1272.
- 14. Health Information Communication and Data Exchange Taskforce. *Report from the Health Information Communication and Data Exchange Taskforce to the State Alliance for E-Health 2007-2008*: State Alliance for E-Health of the National Governors Association; October 3 2007.
- **15.** Alfreds S, Tutty M, Himmelstein J. *EOHHS Health Information Technology Policy Support Project Data Collection and Analysis Chart Book.* Worcester, Mass: UMass Medical School, Center for Health Policy and Research; August 19 2005.
- Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative. Mission Statement. <u>http://www.maehc.org/aboutUs_missionstatement.html</u>. Accessed October 14, 2007, 2007.

- 17. Campbell R, Stone D, Miller S, Heinold J, Szabo D. Privacy and Security Solutions for Interoperable Health Information Exchange Massachusetts HISPC Report Deliverable No. 5 State Final Assessment of Variation and Analysis of Solutions Repor: Massachusetts Health Data Consortium as Designated Subcontractor for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and RTI International; March 30 2007.
- 18. Campbell R, Stone D, Miller S, Heinold J, Szabo D. Privacy and Security Solutions for Interoperable Health Information Exchange Massachusetts HISPC Report Deliverable No. 6 State Implementation Plans Final Report: Massachusetts Health Data Consortium As Designated Subcontractor by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and RTI International; April 16 2007.
- **19.** Institute of Medicine. *To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2000.
- **20.** Institute of Medicine. *The Computer-Based Patient Record: An Essential Technology for Health Care, Revised Edition.* Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 1997.
- **21.** Blumenthal D, Glaser J. Information Technology Comes to Medicine. *NEJM*. June 14 2007;356(24):2527-2534.
- 22. Blumenthal D, DesRoches C, Donelan K, et al. *Health Information Technology in the United States: The Information Base for Progress*: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, MGH Institute for Health Policy, George Washington University School of Public Health and Health Services; 81 2006.
- **23.** American Telemedicinie Association. *Telemedicine, Telehealth and Health Information Technology:* ATA; May 2006 2006.
- **24.** American Telemedicine Association. *Telemedicine, Telehealth and Health Information Technology*: ATA; May 2006.
- **25.** Brailer D, Terasawa E. *Use and Adoption of Computer-based Patient Records.* Oakland, CA: California HealthCare Foundation; October 2003.
- 26. HarrisInteractive. Large Difference Between Primary Care Practices in the United States, Australia, Canada, Germany, New Zealand, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom: The Harris Poll; February 8 2007.
- **27.** Gearon C, Barrett M, Brennan P, et al. *Perspectives on the Future of Personal Health Records*: California HealthCare Foundation; June 2007.
- **28.** Endsley S, Kibbe D, Linares A, Colorafi K. An Introduction to Personal Health Records. *Family Practice Management*. May 2006;13(5).
- **29.** Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. *The Decade of Health Information Technology: Delivering Consumer-centric and Information-rich Health Care, Framework for Strategic Action.* Washington, DC: ONC; July 21 2004.
- **30.** Markle Foundation. *Attitudes of Americans Rregarding Personal Health Records and Nationwide Electronic Health Information Exchange*: Markle Foundation; October 2005.
- **31.** Microsoft. HealthVault. 2007; <u>http://www.healthvault.com/</u>. Accessed October 25, 2007.
- **32.** The Vault is Open: Microsoft moves into health care. *The Economist*. October 5 2007.
- **33.** Halamka J, Overhage M, Ricciardi L, Rishel W, Shirky C, Diamond C. Exchanging Health Information: Local Distribution, National Coordination *Health Affairs*. September/October 2005;24(5):1170-1179.

- **34.** Foundation of Research and Education. *State-Level Health Information Exchange: Roles in Ensuring Governance and Advancing Interoperability, Preliminary Report.* Chicago, IL: American Health Information Management Association; September 28 2007.
- **35.** Martin R, Brantley D, Dangler D. *Essential but Not Sufficient: Information Technology in Long-Term Care as an Enabler of Consumer Independence and Qualilty Improvement:* BearingPoint Inc. for the National Commission for Quality Long-Term Care; September 24 2007.
- **36.** Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society. HIMSS RHIO / HIE. 2007; <u>http://www.himss.org/ASP/topics_rhio.asp</u>. Accessed October 22, 2007.
- **37.** Halamka J, Aranow M, Ascenzo C, et al. Health Care IT Collaboration in Massachusetts: The Experience of Creating Regional Connectivity. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. Nov/Dec 2005;12(6).
- **38.** Sutherland J. *Regional Health Information Organization (RHIO): Opportunities and Risks*: PatientKeeper, Inc.; November 2005.
- **39.** Institute of Medicine. *Fostering Rapid Advances in Health Care*. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press; 2003.
- **40.** Weiner M, Callahan C, Tierney W, et al. Using Information Technology to Improve the Health Care of Older Adults. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2003;139(5):430-436.
- **41.** Blumenthal D. *Health Information Technology: What is the Federal Government's Role*: The Commonwealth Fund; March 2006.
- **42.** Kerr EA, Gerzoff RB, Krein SL. Diabetes Care Quality in the Veterans Affairs Health Care System and Commercial Managed Care: The TRIAD Study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. Aug 17 2004;141(4):272-281.
- **43.** Asch SM, McGlynn EA, Hogan MM. Comparison of Quality of Care for Patients in the Veterans Health Administration and Patients in a National Sample. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. Dec. 21 2004;141(12):938-945.
- **44.** Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative. The Collaborator. Vol 1; 2007.
- **45.** Nelson E. Microsystems in Health Care Part 2: Creating a Rich Information Environment. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Safety*. January 2003;29(1):5-15.
- **46.** Massachusetts Technology Collaborative, NEHI. *Advanced Technologies to Lower Health Care Costs and Improve Quality.* Cambridge, MA: NEHI, MTC; Fall 2003.
- **47.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. About Us. <u>http://www.mahealthdata.org/consortium/mission/index.html</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **48.** Chapter 58 of the Acts of 2006: An Act Providing Access to Affordable, Quality, Accountable Health Care; 2006.
- **49.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. *What's NeWWW at <u>www.mahealthdata.org</u> Vol.9, No. 7: Consortium Awarded Sub-Contract with the Health Care Quality and Cost Council.* Waltham, MA: MHDC; Late Fall 2007.
- **50.** Kaiser Family Foundation. State Health Facts. 2006; <u>http://www.statehealthfacts.kff.org/comparemaptable.jsp?ind=429&cat=8</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **51.** Alfreds S, Masters E, Himmelstein J. *Key Themes Identified through Stakeholder Interviews, in EOHHS Health Information Technology Policy Support Project Data Collection and Analysis Chart Book*: UMass Medical School, Center for Health Policy and Research; 2005.

- **52.** Simon S, Kaushal R, Cleary P, et al. Physicians and electronic health records: a statewide survey. *Arch Internal Medicine*. March 12 2007;167(5):507-512.
- **53.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. Health Information Security and Privacy Collaborative (HISPC). <u>http://www.mahealthdata.org/forums/hispc/index.html</u>. Accessed November 25, 2007.
- 54. RTI International. Health Information Security and Privacy Collaboration (HISPC), Privacy and Security Solutions for Interoperable Health Information Exchange. <u>http://www.rti.org/page.cfm?objectid=09E8D494-C491-42FC-</u> BA13EAD1217245C0. Accessed November 25, 2007.
- **55.** RTI International. 22 States Join National Health Information Privacy and Security Collaboration. <u>http://www.rti.org/page.cfm?nav=293&objectid=E41DD873-3726-49E8-9BE9AD24050092EA</u>. Accessed November 25, 2007.
- **56.** NEHEN. About NEHEN. 2007; <u>http://www.nehen.net/about/work.aspx</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **57.** NEHEN. Welcome to NEHEN. 2007; <u>http://www.nehen.net/</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **58.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. MA-SHARE Program Overview. <u>http://www.mahealthdata.org/ma-share/mission.html</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **59.** MA-SHARE. *MA-SHARE's MedsInfo-ED Final Report*: Massachusetts Health Data Consortium; August 2005.
- 60. Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. MA-SHARE Projects. 2007; http://www.mahealthdata.org/ma-share/projects.html. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **61.** MA-SHARE. e-Prescribing Gateway Project Overview. December 20, 2006; <u>http://www.mahealthdata.org/ma-share/projects/e-prescribinggateway.html</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **62.** Ascenzo C. Testimony of Carl Ascenzo Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts Joint Committee on Health Care Financing Joint Committee on Economic Development and Emerging Technologies Joint Oversight Hearing on Advanced Technologies in Healthcare. Boston, MA May 5, 2005 2005.
- **63.** Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Press Relases: Romney, Healthcare Leaders Tout Medical Innovations. <u>http://www.nehi.net/CMS/viewPage.cfm?pageId=119</u>. Accessed November 1, 2007.
- **64.** Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative. Member Organizations. <u>http://www.maehc.org/aboutUs_memberOrganization.html</u>. Accessed October 14, 2007.
- **65.** Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative. Pilot Program. <u>http://www.maehc.org/communities.html</u>. Accessed October 14, 2007.
- **66.** Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative. Other Communities. <u>http://www.maehc.org/communities_other.html</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- 67. New England Healthcare Institute. About NEHI. 2003`; http://www.nehi.net/CMS/viewPage.cfm?pageId=2. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **68.** Massachusetts Technology Collaborative, NEHI. *A Case Study on Computerized Physician Order Entry: A Blueprint for a Beginning*. Cambridge, MA: NEHI; December 2006.
- **69.** Massachusetts Technology Collaborative. Massachusetts Technology Collaborative. 2007; <u>http://www.mtpc.org/index.asp</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.

- **70.** MassPro. MassPro. <u>http://www.masspro.org/about/index.php</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- 71. Masspro. *Insights*: Masspro; Winter 2007.
- 72. Collaborative e. Program Mission. <u>http://www.erxcollaborative.org/</u>. Accessed November 6, 2007.
- **73.** Health Care Quality and Cost Council. *Health Care Quality and Cost Council Enabling Statute*. Boston: Health Care Quality and Cost Council; 2007.
- Health Care Quality and Cost Council. 129 CMR 1.00: Uniform Reporting System for Health Care Claims Data Sets.
 <u>http://www.mass.gov/Ihqcc/docs/regs/reg129cmr100_proposed_6-20-07.pdf</u>.
 Accessed October 30, 2007.
- **75.** Teich J, Glaser J, Beckley R, et al. The Brigham integrated computing system (BICS): Advanced clinical systems in an academic hospital environment. *International Journal for Medical Informatics*. 1999;54:197-208.
- **76.** Glaser J. Awards/Honors for Information Systems at Partners, email communication. Boston, MA: Partners HealthCare System; 2007.
- IHealthBeat. Boston Health Network Requires All Physicians to Adopt EHRs by 2009. *IHealthBeat* [October 17, 2007; http://www.ihealthbeat.org/articles/2007/10/17/Boston-Health-Network-Requires-All-Physicians-To-Adopt-EHRs-by-2009.aspx. Accessed November 6, 2007.
- 78. News H. CCHIT recognizes Partners Healthcare's ambulatory EHRs. October 18, 2007; <u>http://www.healthimaging.com/content/view/8221/89/</u>. Accessed November 6, 2007.
- **79.** Partners HealthCare. Partners Electronic Health Record Earns Federally-Recognized Certification. <u>http://www.partners.org/newnoteworthy/lmr.htm</u>. Accessed November 6, 2007.
- **80.** Boston Medical Center. Welcome to Boston Medical Center. 2006; <u>http://www.bmc.org/</u>. Accessed October 24, 2007.
- **81.** Halamka J. Designing and Buildin and Ambulatory Electronic Health Record. *Canadian Healthcare Technology*. May 2005.
- 82. Halamka J. On the Road to RHIOs. *Health Management Technology*. June 2006.
- **83.** Intersystems. Press Release: CareGroup Goes Live with Web-based Electronic Health Record Built on InterSystems' CACHE Post-relational Databased; 2005.
- **84.** Emani S, Garber L, Fisher M, Alper E, Erban S, Preusse P. *SAFEHealth: Patient Perceptions of Health Information Exchange and Implications for Successful Implementation.* WASHINGTON, DC: Presented at the AHRQ Patient Safety and Health IT Second Annual Conference; JUNE 4-7, 2006 2006.
- 85. Fallon Clinic. Federal agencies award \$1.4 million to patient safety initiative in Massachusetts. Septebmer 28, 2004; <u>http://www.fallonclinic.org/internet/news/news.aspx?PAGE=news&LEVEL1=news &LEVEL2=&NEWSID=28</u>. Accessed November 6, 2007.
- 86. Fisher M, Garber L, Wang H. SAFEHealth 2005.
- **87.** Pedersen CA, Schneider PJ, Scheckelhoff DJ. ASHP National Survey of Pharmacy Practice in Hospital Settings: Prescribing and Transcribing 2004. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*. Feb 15 2005;62(4):378-390.
- **88.** Bates D. Physicians and Ambulatory Electronic Health Records. *Health Affairs*. September/October 2005;24(5):1180-1189.

- **89.** Gottlieb L, Stone E, Stone D, Dunbrack L, Calladine J. Regulatory and Policy Barriers to Effective Clinical Data Exchange: Lessons Learned from MedsInfo-ED. *Health Affairs.* September/October 2005;24(5):1197-1204.
- **90.** Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy. *Health Insurance Status of Massachusetts Residents, Fourth Edition*: Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy; November 2004.
- **91.** Health Privacy Project. State Health Privacy Laws (2nd edition, 2002). <u>http://www.healthprivacy.org/info-url_nocat2304/info-url_nocat.htm</u>. Accessed November 25, 2007.
- **92.** Health Privacy Project. *The State of Health Privacy: Massachusetts*: Institute for Health Care Research and Policy Georgetown University; 2002 2002.
- **93.** Massachusetts Division of Insurance Regulations.
- **94.** M.G.L. Chapter 176A.
- **95.** M.G.L. Chapter 176B.
- **96.** Code of Federal Regulations. Title 42--Public Health Chapter 1 Public Health Service, Department of Health and Human Serevices Subchapter A - General Provisions Part 2 - Confidentiality of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Patient Records. Vol 42 CFR: GPO Access.
- **97.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. Health Information Security and Privacy Collaborative (HISPC) MA-HISPC Phase I Project Background. April 20; <u>http://www.mahealthdata.org/forums/hispc/background.html</u>. Accessed Novebmer 25, 2007.
- **98.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. Health Information Security and Privacy Collaborative (HISPC) MA-HISPC Phase 2 Consent Management Project. April 20; <u>http://www.mahealthdata.org/forums/hispc/consent_management.html</u>. Accessed November 25, 2007.
- **99.** Miller M, Quigley K, Seifert R, Sullivan J. The Outlook for Medicaid in Massachusetts: A Report from the Massachusetts Medicaid Policy Institute. March; <u>http://www.massmedicaid.org/pdfs/medicaid-outlook_3-2007.pdf</u>. Accessed November 23, 2007.
- 100. CMS National Health Expenditures. Health Expenditures by State of Residence: Medicare Summary Tables (1991-2004) September 2007. 10/03/2007; <u>http://www.cms.hhs.gov/NationalHealthExpendData/downloads/res-mcare.pdf</u>. Accessed November 23, 2007.
- **101.** National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. *Assuring a Health Dimension for the National Information Infrastructure; Concept paper presented to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Data Council:* NCVHS; October 14 1998.
- **102.** Bush GW. Executive Order 13335 Incentives for the Use of Health Information Technology and Establihing the Position of the National Health Information Technology Coordinator. Washington, DC: The White House; April 24 2004.
- **103.** HHS.gov. The President's Vision for Health IT. <u>http://www.hhs.gov/healthit/vision.html</u>. Accessed October 2, 2007.
- **104.** President's Information Technology Advisory Committee. *Revolutionizing Health Care Through Information Technology*: National Coordination Office for Information Technology Research & Development; June 30 2004.
- **105.** Promoting Innovation and Competitiveness. <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/infocus/technology/economic_policy200404/chap3.html</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.

- 106. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC). November 9, 2004; <u>http://www.hhs.gov/healthit/executivesummary.html</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **107.** U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Health Information Technology Initiatives. Major Accomplishments: 2004-2006.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2006.
- **108.** Cronin K. *Overview of the National Agenda for Health Information Technology.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2006.
- **109.** Brailer DJ. Testimony on Activities of the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology Before the Committee on Ways and Means, Subcommittee on Health, US House of Representatives. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; April 6 2006.
- **110.** Bernstein W, Dutton M, Evans L, Fiori A. *Health Information Exchange Projects: What Hospitals and Health Systems Need to Know*: Prepared for the American Hospital Association by Manatt Health Solutions; 2006.
- **111.** U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *News Release: HHS Awards Contracts to Advance Nationwide Interoperable Health Information Technology.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; Octobe 6 2005.
- **112.** Health Information Technology Adoption Initiative. Health Information Technology Adoption Initiative. <u>http://hitadoption.org/</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **113.** Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. The Health IT Adoption Initiative. December 14, 2005; http://www.hhs.gov/healthit/measuring.html. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **114.** American Health Information Management Association. *Press Release: States Selected to Participate in First Phase Development of RHIO Best Practices: Consensus building project to seek input from all stakeholders.* Chicago: AHIMA; 2006.
- 115. AHRQ. Funding Opportunities. <u>http://healthit.ahrq.gov/portal/server.pt?open=512&objID=655&parentname=Commu</u> <u>nityPage&parentid=1&mode=2&cached=true</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **116.** Moore RT. What Do Legislators Want to Know About IT? Presentation. Paper presented at: NCSL Governing Live! Managing Technology 2007; May 31, 2007; Chicago, IL.
- **117.** U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *News Release: HHS Awards \$139 Million to Drive Adoption of Health Information Technology.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; October 13 2004.
- **118.** AHRQ. Fact Sheet. Health Information Technology: State and Regional Demonstration Projects. Rockville, MD: AHRQ; 2007.
- **119.** U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *News Release. AHRQ Awrds Over* \$22.3 *Million in Health Information Technology Implementation Grants.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; October 6 2005.
- **120.** AHRQ. Findings From the Evaluation of e-Prescribing Pilot Sites (AHRQ Publication no. 07-0047-EF). Rockville, MD: AHRQ; April 2007.
- 121. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. HRSA News: HRSA Awards \$31.4 Million to Expand Use of Health Information Technology at Health Centers. <u>http://newsroom.hrsa.gov/releases/2007/HITgrantsaugust.htm</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.

- **122.** HIMSS. HIMSS Federal HIT Legislation Crosswalk. <u>http://www.himss.org/advocacy/news_crosswalk.asp</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- 123. Kennedy EM. Senate Report 110-187 WIRED FOR HEALTH CARE QUALITY ACT. <u>http://thomas.loc.gov/cgibin/cpquery/?&dbname=cp110&sid=cp110HO8Rx&refer=&r_n=sr187.110&item=& sel=TOC_0&</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **124.** Congressional Budget Office. S. 1693 Wired for Health Care Quality Act As ordered reported by the Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions on June 27, 2007. Washington, DC: CBO; July 25, 2007 2007.
- **125.** National Governor's Association State Alliance for e-Health. State Alliance for e-Health. http://www.nga.org/portal/site/nga/menuitem.1f41d49be2d3d33eacdcbeeb501010a0/?

http://www.nga.org/portal/site/nga/menuitem.1f41d49be2d3d33eacdcbeeb501010a0/? vgnextoid=5066b5bd2b991110VgnVCM1000001a01010aRCRD. Accessed November 6, 2007.

- 126. National Governor's Association State Alliance for e-Health. Members of the State Alliance for e-Health (2007-2008). <u>http://www.nga.org/Files/pdf/EHEALTHMEMBERS.PDF</u>. Accessed November 6, 2007.
- **127.** National Governor's Association State Alliance for e-Health. *A Vision of Health Care from and Framework for the State Alliance for e-Health*. Washington, DC: NGA; 2007.
- **128.** Alfreds S, Masters E, Himmelstein J. *Opportunities for Facilitating Electronic Health Information Exchange in Publicly Funded Programs: Findings from Key Informant Interviews with Medicaid and SCHIP Leadership and Staff*: The Center for Health Policy and Research, University of Southern Maine Muskie School of Public Service Institute for Health Policy, National Governors Association Center for Best Practices; 2007.
- **129.** National Governor's Association State Alliance for e-Health. *State Alliance for e-Health Quarterly Conference Meeting*. Washington, DC: NGA; October 3 2007.
- **130.** Governor's Health Information Infrastructure Advisory Board. *First Interim Report to Governor Jeb Bush.* Tallahassee, FL: Agency for Health Care Administration; 2004.
- **131.** Minnesota e-Health Initiative. *Roadmap and Preliminary Recommendations for Strategic Action - Report to the Minnesota Legislature*: Minnesota Department of Public Health; January 2005.
- **132.** Connecting For Health. *The Connecting for Health Common Framework*: Markle Foundation; 2006.
- **133.** eHealth Initiative. Welcome to the eHealth Initiative. <u>http://www.ehealthinitiative.org/</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **134.** Marchibroda JM. Overview of What's Happening at the State and Local Levels: Use of Health Information Exchange to Improve Quality, Safety and Effectiveness. Washington, DC: eHealth Initiative and Foundation; September 13 2006.
- **135.** AHRQ. *Privacy and Security Solutions for Interoperable Health Information Exchange*. Rockville, MD: AHRQ; 2007.
- **136.** Commonwealth of Massachusetts Executive Department. Press Release: Governor Patrick Unveils \$12 Billion Capital Investment Plan. http://www.mass.gov/?pageID=pressreleases&agId=Agov3&prModName=gov3press release&prFile=070806_capital_investment.xml. Accessed October 30, 2007.

- **137.** Patrick D, Governor, Murray T, Lt. Governor, Kirwan L, Secretary of Administration & Finance. *Commonwealth of Massachusetts FY2008-2012 Five-Year Capital Investment Plan.* Boston: Commonwealth of Massachusetts; August 2007.
- **138.** EHealth Initiative. eHealth Initiative's Analysis of Massachusetts Legislation. <u>http://ccbh.ehealthinitiative.org/communities/community.aspx?Section=288&Categor</u> <u>y=298&Document=663</u>. Accessed October 30, 2007.
- 139. National Conference of State Legislatures. 2007 Enacted Leglislation on Health Information Technology. <u>http://www.ncsl.org/programs/health/forum/Hitch/enacted.htm</u>. Accessed October 30, 2007.
- 140. Chapter 61 of the Acts of 2007. Appropriations Act; 2007.
- 141. Chapter 130 of the Acts of 2007. An Act Establishing an Electronic Health Records Task Force in the Office of Health and Human Services; 2007.
- **142.** Massachusetts Health Data Consortium. *White Paper on Understanding the National and State Environment of Issues and Challenges for HIE.* Waltham, MA: Massachusetts Health Data Consortium; February 28 2006.
- **143.** U.S. Census Bureau. State & County Quick Facts: California. August 31 2007; <u>http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06000.html</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **144.** Holmquest D. *Connecting California: A Progress Report.* San Francisco: CalRHIO; June 21 2007.
- 145. Foundation of Research and Education. *State Level Health Information Exchange Initiative Development Workbook. A Guide to Key Issues, Options and Strategies.* Chicago: Foundation of Research and Education of American Health Information Management Association; 2006.
- **146.** Office of the Governor of the State of California. Executive Order S-12-06. July 24 2006.
- **147.** Office of the Governor of the State of California. Executive Order S-06-07. March 13 2007.
- **148.** California Regional Health Information Organization. Connecting California. <u>http://calrhio.org/</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **149.** California HealthCare Foundation. California Performance Measurement and Health IT Landscape: Overview. *California HealthCare Foundation*. September 2006.
- **150.** CalRHIO. Funding and Resource Use. April 2007; <u>http://calrhio.org/crweb-files/report/Funding_and_Resource_Use.pdf</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **151.** CalRHIO. *FAST FACTS Building a Statewide HIE Utility Service in California*. San Francisco, CA: CalRHIO; March 13 2006.
- **152.** Ferris N. Delaware first with statewide health information exchange. *GovernmentHealthIT.* March 28 2007.
- **153.** DHIN. Delaware Health Information Network. 2007; <u>http://www.dhin.org/</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- 154. eHealth Initiative. State Legislation Tracking Center: Delaware. eHealth Initiative's Analysis of Delaware Legislation. 2007; http://ccbh.ehealthinitiative.org/communities/community.aspx?Section=288&Category=375&Document=708. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **155.** AHRQ. State and Regional Demonstration Projects Delaware. <u>http://healthit.ahrq.gov/portal/server.pt?open=512&objID=654&PageID=11997&mo</u> <u>de=2&cached=false&sp=true&pubURL=http://prodportallb.ahrq.gov:7087/published</u>

content/publish/communities/a_e/ahrq_funded_projects/projects/delaware_health_inf ormation_network.html&gn=290-05-0012. Accessed October 27, 2007.

- **156.** HIMSS State Dashboard. Delaware State Legislation Tracker. 2007; http://www.himss.org/statedashboard/mapPage.aspx. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **157.** U.S. Census Bureau. State & Country Quick Facts: Indiana. <u>http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/18000.html</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **158.** eHealth Initiative. eHealth Initiative's Analysis of the Governor's Executive Order. <u>http://ccbh.ehealthinitiative.org/communities/community.aspx?Section=288&Categor</u> <u>y=362&Document=1135</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **159.** Indiana Network For Patient Care. Indiana Network For Patient Care. 2007; `. Available at: <u>http://www.regenstrief.org/medinformatics/inpc/</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **160.** Regenstrief Institute. Indiana Network For Patient Care. 2007; `. Available at: <u>http://www.regenstrief.org/medinformatics/inpc/</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **161.** Overhage M. *RHIO Case Study: Indiana Health Information Exchange*. Indianapolis, IN: Regenstrief Institute; 2004.
- 162. Indiana Health Information Exchange. Press Release: Community Health Network and the Indiana Health Information Exchange Announce New Functionality to Popular Clinical Messaging Service. http://www.ihie.com/documents/IHIE_PR_070712.pdf. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- 163. Indiana Health Information Exchange. Indiana Health Information Exchange expands reach throughout state. June 20, 2007; http://www.ihie.com/documents/press%20release%2006.20.07.pdf. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- 164. AHRQ. State and Regional Demonstration Projects Indiana. http://healthit.ahrq.gov/portal/server.pt?open=512&objID=654&PageID=11997&mo de=2&cached=false&sp=true&pubURL=http://prodportallb.ahrq.gov:7087/published content/publish/communities/a_e/ahrq_funded_projects/projects/evolving_state_wide __indiana_information_infrastructure.html&gn=290-04-0015. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **165.** Indiana Health Information Exchange. Indiana Health Information Exchange: Federally Funded Activities. <u>http://www.ihie.com/grants.html</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- 166. Office of the Governor Commonwealth of P. Press Release: Governor Rendell Unveils Historic "Prescription for Pennsylvania" to Provide Access to Affordable, Quality Health Care for all Pennsylvanians. January 17, 2007; <u>http://www.ohcr.state.pa.us/prescription-for-pennsylvania/Rx-for-Pennsylvania-News-Release.pdf</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **167.** Rendell EG. Prescription for Pennsylvania: Right State, Right Plan, Right Now. January; <u>http://www.ohcr.state.pa.us/prescription-for-pennsylvania/prescription-for-Pennsylvania.pdf</u>. Accessed October 27, 2007.
- **168.** Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative. Welcome to the Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative. October 20, 2007; <u>http://www.paehi.org/</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **169.** Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative. *Connecting Pennsylvanians for Better Health: Recommendations from the Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative*: Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative; April 25 2007.
- **170.** Robinson B. Pennsylvania RHIO to close. June 12, 2007; http://www.govhealthit.com/online/news/102969-1.html. Accessed October 28, 2007.

- **171.** Central Penn Health Information Collaborative. CPHiC Regional Health Information Exchange. <u>http://www.cphic.org</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **172.** Ciccocioppo M, Jacobs M. *HIMSS Webinar: Connecting Pennsylvanians for Better Health*: Pennsylvania eHealth Initiative; April 18 2007.
- **173.** Jacobs M. Delaware Valley HIMSS Presentation: A Look at Pennsylvania Activities Toward NHIN. October 5, 2005; <u>www.tccp.org/x/tccp/other/Medicine2.ppt</u>. Accessed October 28[°], 2007.
- **174.** iHealthBeat. Pennsylvania RHIO Dissolves Due to Lack of Funding, Support. June 7,2007; <u>http://www.ihealthbeat.org/articles/2007/6/7/Pennsylvania-RHIO-Dissolves-Due-to-Lack-of-Funding-Support.aspx</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **175.** Pittsburgh Regional Health Initiative. Chronic Care. <u>http://www.prhi.org/init_cc.php</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **176.** Lyon T. *The Pittsburgh Health Information Network (PHIN) Summary Report.* Pittsburgh: Pittsburgh Regional Healthcare Initiative; May 2005 2005.
- 177. eHealth Initiative. State Legislation Tracking Center: Tennessee. eHealth Initiative's Analysis of the Governor's Executive Order. <u>http://ccbh.ehealthinitiative.org/communities/community.aspx?Section=288&Category=307&Document=1031</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **178.** eHealth Initiative. Community Profiles: MidSouth eHealth Alliance. <u>http://ccbh.ehealthinitiative.org/profiles/MidSouth.mspx</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- 179. Frisse M. RHIO Case Studies SW Tennessee. Nashville: Vanderbilt University; 2005.
- 180. AHRQ. State and Regional Demonstration Projects Tennessee. <u>http://healthit.ahrq.gov/portal/server.pt?open=512&objID=654&PageID=11997&mo</u> <u>de=2&cached=false&sp=true&pubURL=http://prodportallb.ahrq.gov:7087/published</u> <u>content/publish/communities/a_e/ahrq_funded_projects/projects/state_and_regional_</u> <u>demonstrations_in_hit_tn.html&gn=290-04-0006</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- 181. Estrin V. MidSouth eHealth Alliance: SW Tennessee's Experience: The Legal Side of the Project. <u>http://healthit.ahrq.gov/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=204522&qid=11172435&ra nk=1&parentname=CommunityPage&parentid=29&mode=2&in hi_userid=3882&ca ched=true. Accessed October 28, 2007.</u>
- **182.** HHS.gov. News Release: HHS Awards Contracts to Develop Nationwide Health Information Network. <u>http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2005pres/20051110.html</u>. Accessed October 28, 2007.
- **183.** Connecting For Health. Connecting for Health Prototype Successfully Moved Electronic Health Information Among Medical Record Systems in Three States on Three Independent Networks; 2006.
- 184. Connecting For Health. Press Releases. Connecting for Health Prototype Successfully Moved Electronic Health Information Among Medical Record Systems in Three States on Three Independent Networks. Prototype Takes First Step Toward Demonstrating Decentralized "Network of Networks" Based on Connecting for Health's Common Framework. *Connecting For Health*. Vol 2007: Connecting For Health; 2006.